# **Ultrasonic Extraction for Estimating**

# **Bioavailability of Phosphorus in Particulate Forms**

(懸濁物質中の生物利用可能性リンの超音波抽出法による定量)

January, 2017

Doctor of Engineering

# **NGUYEN MINH NGOC**

グェンミンギョク

豊橋技術科学大学

Toyohashi University of Technology

# Abstract

Phosphorus (P) is an essential nutrient for plant growth and required to maintain profitable crop and livestock production in the prevalent intensive agricultural plans. However, its excessive use has caused undesirable growth of algae and cyanobacteria in aquatic environment, leading to the harmful eutrophication which is blamed for mortality of aquatic culture in closed water areas and threats to human health, particularly during the summer period. In order to control human-caused eutrophication, acceptable levels of total phosphorus (TP) were limited in the water quality standards in many countries but it includes all of P species. Some of them are complex forms that do not either feed algae or contribute to eutrophication. Hence, the term of bioavailable P (BAP) appeared to define the P fraction which is readily available for algal uptake and really contribute to eutrophication. Regardless of the difference in chemical forms, in environment P can be separated by centrifugation or filtration into two states: dissolved phosphorus (DP) and particulate phosphorus (PP). DP is generally considered readily available for algal uptake, whereas PP is partially bioavailable. P has a strong affinity to particulate matter, thus PP bound to sediment and soil particles comprises the majority of P in surface runoffs flowing either into drains or overland into aquatic environments. Therefore, an understanding of the BAP fraction in PP bound to soils and suspended sediments, especially related to agricultural sources, is necessary for better management of eutrophication in a watershed. Recent reports have also alleged the involvement of bioavailable phosphorus (BAP) in particulate forms in the severity of eutrophication. However, current methods that can estimate particulate BAP are too time-consuming and meticulous. They require longer than 14 days for incubation in bioassays, 4 days for the sequential extraction scheme or 17 hours for single step-extraction using mechanical shaking, respectively. Thus, the amounts of analyzed samples are very limited. It leads to the demand of a new method which require less time for determining accurate BAP concentration in PP. A possible solution is using ultrasonic treatment to accelerate the transformation of P into extracts. Recently, ultrasonic treatment has been studied as an efficient extraction technique that takes less working times as well as improves yields and quality of the extracts from food and environmental samples. In this study, we investigated an extraction using 0.1 M NaOH solution in combination with an ultrasonic treatment to quantify the potential BAP in particulate forms, especially in soil and suspended sediment from river water related to

agricultural sources.

The first study used Sharpley's extraction with the mechanical shaking in 17h as the conventional method to examine the BAP concentrations in our target samples of soil and suspended sediment. Next, we evaluated our proposed ultrasonic method by comparing with Sharpley's method. The most optimal working conditions of the ultrasonic treatment were defined at which, the BAP extracted by ultrasonic treatment was similar to those obtained by the conventional extraction. The investigated working conditions of ultrasonic treatment included intensity, extraction time and ratio of sample to extractant. Finally, we evaluated the bioavailability of P obtained from the extractions by bioassays for the growth of P-starved *Microcystis aeruginosa*.

We quantified BAP concentrations in soil and suspended sediment samples collected from a representative agricultural field in Umeda River basin. Umeda River was selected because it flows into Mikawa Bay which has been reported one of the most eutrophic regions in Japan's main island. Our study was compatible with the previous study about the proportion of BAP in PP in agricultural streams. It confirmed the potential risk of P pollution in Umeda River basin and Mikawa Bay come from agricultural sources.

The most optimal conditions for ultrasonic treatment were identified. The proposed method allowed for an extraction time of only 1 min whereas the mechanical shaking method requires 17 hours for BAP extraction. The extraction process is less time-consuming than alternative conventional methods and permits analyses of a greater number of samples.

The growth of algae in the media containing samples after the ultrasonic extraction was at an identically similar level with those in the media containing samples after conventional extraction. It reinforced the notion that ultrasonic treatment could provide a similar quantification for BAP in soil and suspended sediment samples when using conventional extraction. The high correlation between the amount of extracted BAP and algal growth at the stationary phase of incubation suggested that the BAP fraction could be entirely obtained in a single extraction. Additionally, The limiting effect of P on the algal growth was confirmed. Although bioassays observed the growth of algae in cultures using samples after extraction as the sole phosphorus (P) source, we confirmed that the remained P was able to be in algal cells. We suggested that when nutrients, especially P, were deficient, the algae could utilize cellular nutrients for their growth. Thus, using *M.aeruginosa* would properly be inappropriate for accurate AGP tests to evaluate the bioavailability in P depleted environments.

# Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Professor Takanobu INOUE for his continuous support of my study. I am truly indebted for his patience, motivation and immense knowledge. His gently guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing this dissertation. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my Ph.D. study.

Besides my advisor, I am thankful to Prof. Shigeru KATO for his insightful comments and encouragement, but also for the critical questions which incented me to improve my dissertation.

My grateful thanks are also extended to Dr. Kuriko YOKOTA and Dr. Yoshitaka MATSUMOTO for their assistance in handling the lab equipment and administrative works, translation of the Japanese documents into English.

I am extremely grateful to Dr. Yoko OKUBO for being an inspiring teacher and for generously sharing her knowledge of phosphorus and algae. Her willingness to give her time so generously for assistance with the experiments and valuable discussions has been greatly appreciated.

I wish to give warm thanks to all past and present members in the Water Engineering Lab for making it a pleasure to arrive for work, especially Mrs. Kazuko HANAI for secretarial assistance and advices on life in Toyohashi City; Mrs. Rasul ERNAWATY for her careful experiment notes; IMAI, OGAWA, NAKAMURA, Mutiara Sari MEGA, Teuku MAHLIL, Yoong WEI LING and JAMES Mbabazi for their friendships.

I would also like to extend my appreciation to officers in Academic Affair Division and International Affair Division for their patient instructions and supports in my life and study in Japan; to Research Administration Center for their valuable comments about English on my writings.

Finally, I must express my profound gratitude to my parents and to my spouse for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my doctoral study and through the process of researching, attending conferences and writing this dissertation; to my sons for their love as eternal source of motivation and strength; to my brother for his unconditional help with using computer software.

This accomplishment would not have been possible without them. Thank you.

Toyohashi City, Japan, 2017.

Nguyen Minh Ngoc

# Contents

Abst	ract	i
Ackr	nowledgement	iii
Cont	ents	iv
List	of Tables	vi
List o	of Figures	vii
Cha	pter 1. Introduction ·····	1
1.1.	Background: Eutrophication and sources of phosphorus inputs to aquatic environment $\cdots$	1
1.2.	Forms of phosphorus in environment and pollution from agricultural source	5
1.3.	Problem statement ·····	7
	1.3.1. Current methods for quantifying particulate BAP	7
	1.3.2. Potential of ultrasonic treatment for phosphorus extraction in particulate matters $\cdot$	11
1.4.	Objectives of this study	11
1.5.	Structure of the thesis	12
Refe	rences	13
Cha	pter 2. Methodology	19
2.1.	Outlines	19
2.2.	Sampling site ·····	19
2.3.	Sample pretreatment and preservation	21
2.4.	Extraction methods	21
	2.4.1. Conventional mechanical shaking extraction	21
	2.4.2. Proposed ultrasonic extraction	23
	2.4.3. Phosphorus analysis	24
2.5.	Algal growth potential tests ·····	25
	2.5.1. Incubation procedure	25
	2.5.2. Analyses of algal growth monitoring parameters	27
2.6.	Statistics	28
Refe	rences	29

Chapter 3. Optimal working conditions of the proposal ultrasonic extraction		33
3.1.	Outlines	33
3.2.	Investigation procedure	33
3.3.	Samples	34
3.4.	Results and discussion	34
	3.4.1. Ultrasonic extraction's working conditions	34
	3.4.2. Comparison between the extraction methods	40
3.5.	Summary ·····	42
Refe	rences	42

Chapter 4. Preliminary examination of extracted P's algal growth potential		45
4.1.	Outlines	45
4.2.	Investigation procedure	45
4.3.	Samples	46
4.4.	Results and discussion	46
4.5.	Summary ·····	52
Refe	rences	52

Chapter 5. Bioavailability of P extracted soils and suspended sediments		55
5.1.	Outlines	55
5.2.	Investigation procedure	55
5.3.	Samples	57
5.4.	Results and discussion	57
	5.4.1. Quantification of extractable BAP	57
	5.4.2. Algal available P·····	60
	5.4.3. Bioavailability confirmation of extractable P	71
	5.4.4. Effects of nutrient deficiency on algal growth	73
5.5.	Summary ·····	76
Refe	rences	78

Chapter 6. Conclusion ·····	
-----------------------------	--

# **List of Tables**

Table 1-1	Acceptable levels of phosphorus in some countries		
Table 1-2	P species in water environment		
Table 1-3	The common extraction schemes for determining phosphorus in soil		
Table 3-1	Mean values of extracted P concentration obtained using the different methods		
Table 3-2	<b>ble 3-2</b> ANOVA for the effect of extraction methods on the concentration of extracted		
	Р	41	
Table 5-1	The samples subjected to AGP bioassays	58	
Table 5-2	Mass ratios of phosphorus, nitrogen and carbon in <i>M.aeruginosa</i> cultures ····· 7		
Table 5-3	Mass ratios of phosphorus, nitrogen and carbon relative to Chl-a in		
	<i>M.aeruginosa</i> cultures at day 25 of incubation	78	

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1-1	Major sources of phosphorus pollution	2
Figure 1-2	P forms in water environment and the importance of BAP	6
Figure 1-3	A summary of current methods for determining BAP in particulate form	8
Figure 2-1	Umeda watershed and locations of the sampling sites	20
Figure 2-2	Procedure for particulate BAP measurement including a comparison between	
	the two extraction methods	22
Figure 2-3	Equipments were used in ultrasonic extraction	24
Figure 3-1	Effect of ultrasonic intensity on the amount of extracted P	35
Figure 3-2	Pearson correlations between extraction methods when investigating the	
	ultrasonic intensity	35
Figure 3-3	Effect of ratio of the sample to the extractant volume on the extracted P	37
Figure 3-4	Pearson correlations between extraction methods when investigating the ratio	
	of the sample to the extractant volume	38
Figure 3-5	Effect of exposure time on the extracted P	39
Figure 3-6	Pearson correlations between extraction methods when investigating the	
	extraction time	39
Figure 4-1	Chl-a concentrations in cultures of M.aeruginosa incubated with samples	47
Figure 4-2	Concentrations of PP and DP in cultures of <i>M.aeruginosa</i>	48
Figure 4-3	Ratios of Chl-a to PP in cultures of M.aeruginosa	49
Figure 4-4	Concentrations of POC, and ratios of POC to PON in cultures of	
	M.aeruginosa ·····	50
Figure 4-5	Similarity of indicators in cultures incubated with conventionally extracted	
	samples and with ultrasonically extracted samples. Comparison with control	
	samples.	51
Figure 5-1	Concentrations of extractable phosphorus obtained by ultrasonic extraction	
	and conventional method, along with total P concentrations	59
Figure 5-2	Correlation between concentrations of extractable phosphorus obtained by	
	ultrasonic extraction and by conventional mechanical extraction	59

Figure 5-3 Chl-a, POC, PON and DP+PP concentrations in cultures of M.aeruginosa

	incubated with negative control and positive controls	63
Figure 5-4	Chl-a concentrations in M.aeruginosa cultures incubated with samples	64
Figure 5-5	Similarity of Chl-a concentrations in cultures incubated with conventionally	
	extracted samples and with ultrasonically extracted samples. Comparison with	
	the Chl-a concentrations in cultures incubated with control samples	65
Figure 5-6	POC concentrations in cultures of <i>M.aeruginosa</i> incubated with samples	66
Figure 5-7	Similarity of POC concentrations in cultures incubated with conventionally	
	extracted samples and with ultrasonically extracted samples. Comparison with	
	the POC concentrations in cultures incubated with control samples.	67
Figure 5-8	PON concentrations in cultures of <i>M.aeruginosa</i> incubated with samples	68
Figure 5-9	Similarity of PON concentrations in cultures incubated with conventionally	
	extracted samples and with ultrasonically extracted samples. Comparison with	
	the PON concentrations in cultures incubated with control samples.	69
Figure 5-10	Concentrations of DP and PP in cultures of M.aeruginosa incubated with	
	samples ·····	70
Figure 5-11	Relationship between the Chl-a concentration at day 25 of incubation and BAP	
	concentration obtained from extractions	71
Figure 5-12	Relationship between the Chl- $a$ concentration at day 25 of incubation and P	
	concentration extracted from the residues	72

# **Chapter 1 Introduction**

# **1.1.** Background: Eutrophication and sources of phosphorus inputs to aquatic environment

Water is an important resource for human but clean water is scarcely available. Serious problems with water pollution further reduce clean water supply greatly. One of the challenging problems over the world nowadays is the wide spreading eutrophication in aquatic environment not only in freshwater ecosystems but also in coastal areas. The common phenomena of eutrophication are blue-green algal blooms and red tides depending on the phytoplankton species living in that watershed. With severe eutrophication, hypoxic conditions occur, then disrupt ordinary ecosystem and furthermore create "dead zone" where no life can be sustained (Grattan et al., 2016; Diaz and Rosenberg, 2008). Eutrophication itself is a process that occurs in a water body as a response to increased levels of nutrients. In nature, eutrophication is a common phenomenon and a part of the gradual aging process of many freshwater ecosystems over many centuries (Chislock et al., 2013). However, this process has been artificially boosted by human activities, and then the water ecosystems eventually suffer the excessive increase of nutrients beyond what the natural ability of ecosystem can handle.

Nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) are the major nutrients that cause eutrophication and other harmful impacts associated with nutrient enrichment (US National Research Council, 2000). Both N and P control should be considered in an eutrophication management strategy but the role of P has attracted more attention. Because the ratio of P in plant content to its availability in water environment is larger than the ratio of N, P is usually more important than N in limiting the growth of algae and phytoplankton.



Figure 1-1. Major sources of phosphorus pollution

Under typical freshwater conditions where physical factors are contributive to the growth of algae, additions of P to the system are more likely to lead to accelerated growth than additions of N. Especially, due to the characteristics of short supply in rivers and other freshwater ecosystems, P is generally the limiting nutrient in these environments (Fox et al., 2016, Zienlinski and Jekatierynczuk-Rudczyk, 2015, US National Research Council, 2000). Moreover, the blue-green algae can obtain the N they require from the atmosphere through the chemical process of nitrogen fixation, thus theoretically creating a nearly limitless N source for these aquatic ecosystems.

Now, the sources of phosphorus causing eutrophication of water bodies are being discussed. The threshold of P concentration in receiving water causing eutrophication is  $0.03 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$  dissolved P or  $0.1 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$  total P (Brady and Weil, 1996). All activities in the entire drainage area of watershed have potential affects to water quality in several direct and indirect ways (*Fig.1-1*). P may be released from phosphate deposits during weathering, erosion and leaching as well as from bottom sediments during seasonal overturns. Otherwise, excessive P may come from anthropogenic pollution sources.

Point sources include discharges from industrial and domestic wastewater treatment plants as well as agricultural point sources such as confined livestock units. Non-point or diffuse sources include excess runoff from forest, urban areas and agriculture fields. In recent years, many techniques have been implemented to control point-source pollution, thus it became easier to identify or reduce contamination from point sources than from diffuse sources. Therefore, more researches have been directed towards non-point (or diffuse) sources (Dupas et al., 2015, Monteagudo et al., 2012), primarily from agricultural activities. Intensive agricultural fields often use phosphate-containing fertilizers as an excellent soil amendment to improve soil quality for crop production. This practice results in P accumulation in soils and can increase the risk of P transport to nearby watershed through leaching, erosion and runoff process. P accumulation in watershed promotes a proliferation of aquatic plants, especially simple algae and cyanobacteria. Over time, the water surface becomes muddy and typically green, yellow or red in color. The enhanced growth of these cyanobacteria and algal blooms disrupts normal function of the environment, despoiling oxygen required for respiration by fish and other species in water habitat. The over growth of algae may also inhibit algae and plants in under layer from sunlight which is essential for photosynthesis. When these algae and plants die and decompose, oxygen depletion happens and progresses to hypoxia. The hypoxic conditions lead to suffocation death of species under the water such as shrimp, fish and other aquatic biota. In extreme cases, the anaerobic conditions encourage the growth of bacteria that produces toxins that may cause human illness and mortality of birds, mammals following consumption in food web; thereby it can bring about aquatic dead zones and lessens biodiversity in that area (Grattan et al., 2016; Diaz and Rosenberg, 2008).

Table 1-1. Acceptable levels of phosphorus in some countries

Country	Freshwater (mg / L)	Coastal water (mg / L)
Japan <sup>[1]</sup>	•Conservation Lakes & Reservoirs	•Fishery and recreational water
	(class V) <sup>[1a]</sup> : 0.10 (TP)	(class V) <sup>[1b]</sup> : 0.09 (TP)
	• Water supply (class I) <sup>[1a]</sup> : 0.005 (TP)	
USA <sup>[2]</sup>	•All fresh water (American Samoa):	•Oceanic water (American Samoa):
	0.15 (TP)	0.01 (TP)
	•Warm fresh water (Basin 3)	•Coastal water (Virgin islands):
	(California): 0.20 (TP)	0.05 (TP)
CANADA <sup>[3]</sup>	•Streams: 0.03 (TP) • Lakes: 0.02 (TP)	
AUSTRALIA <sup>[4]</sup>	•Aquatic ecosystem protection: 0.10 (TP)	•Salinity environment:0.05 (TP)
PHILIPPINES <sup>[5]</sup>	•Public water supply (class A): 0.1 (PO <sub>4</sub> -P)	•Recreational water (class B): 0.2 (PO <sub>4</sub> -P)

TP: Total phosphorus; PO<sub>4</sub>-P: phosphate

[1] Environmental quality standards for human health – Ministry of the Environment, Government of Japan, 2001; [a] Conservation of the water environment, Chapter 3; [b] Environmental standards of water quality, Chapter 7;

[2] Office of Water Regulations and Standards – Environmental Protection Agency, United States, 1988;

[3] Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life – Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, 2004;

[4] Australian and New Zealand guidelines for fresh and marine water quality – Department of the Environment, Australian Government, 2000;

[5] DENR Administrative Order No.34, Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Philippines, 1990

# **1.2.** Forms of phosphorus in environment and pollution from agricultural sources

In the efforts to prevent human-caused eutrophication, the limits on the concentration of total phosphorus (TP) allowed in aquatic environment (summarized in *Table 1-1*) have been placed in the environmental quality standards in many countries (Rattan et al., 2016, van Puijenbroek et al., 2014, Okada and Peterson, 2002). Although TP has been described in environmental quality standards, it is not really an accurate eutrophication indicator. It covers all of P species (*Table1-2*) including complex forms (such as carbonate and apatite bound P, some of organic humic P, mineral organic P, etc.) which are not available for the growth of algae and cyanobacteria. Hence, the term of bioavailable phosphorus (BAP) appeared to define the P fraction which is readily available for algal uptake and really contribute to eutrophication.

Regardless of the difference in chemical forms, in environment TP can be separated by centrifugation or filtration into two states: dissolved phosphorus (DP) and particulate phosphorus (PP). The former DP includes inorganic phosphorus generally in apatitic minerals or secondary precipitates formed with Ca, Fe and Al and free phosphate ions

Fractionation	Soluble Reactive P	Non-Reactive P
scheme		
Step1	Immediately available inorganic P	Other immediate available P
Step2	Redox-sensitive P bound to Fe, Mn	Organic P
Step3	P bound to Al,	Microorganism-P, Polyphosphates,
	Inorganic P compounds soluble	Detrius organic P, Humic P
Step4	Carbonate and Apatite bound P	Organic P
Remains	Organic and Mineral, non-extractable, refractory P	

Table 1-2. P species in water environment (Pacini and Gachter, 1999).



Figure 1-2. P forms in water environment and the importance of BAP.

(PO<sub>4</sub>-P: H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>, HPO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>, PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup>) attached to sorption surfaces or dissolved in soil water, organic phosphorus such as sugar phosphates, phosphoproteins, mononucleotides and inositol phosphate, nucleic acids, phospholipids, teichoic acid and aromatic compounds and small fraction less than 0.45  $\mu$ m. PP includes precipitates of P, P adsorbed to manure particles and amorphosus P.

DP is generally considered readily available for algal uptake, whereas PP is partially bioavailable (*Fig. 1-2*). P has a strong affinity to particulate matter, thus PP bound to sediment and soil particles comprises the majority of P in surface runoffs flowing either into drains or overland into aquatic environments. Especially, when rainfall or flood occur, rain flows transport P associated with soil particles to watershed and P bound to sediment become suspended, leading to the predominance of PP in river water. Therefore, an understanding of the BAP fraction in PP bound to soils and suspended sediments, especially related to agricultural sources, is necessary for better management of eutrophication in a watershed so as to determine correctly the potential of eutrophication and water pollution and react accordingly. Recent reports have also alleged the involvement of bioavailable phosphorus (BAP) in particulate forms in the

severity of eutrophication (McDowell et al., 2016, Ellison and Brett, 2006, Sharpley et al., 1991).

## **1.3.** Problem statement

### 1.3.1 Current methods for quantifying particulate BAP

In many years, several methods have been suggested for determining bioavailability of particulate phosphorus in soil (*Fig. 1-3*). Among them, algal growth potential (AGP) test is believed to be the most reliable. AGP test has been accepted as a standard method for determining the effects of phosphorus enrichment to water bodies because it can investigate the direct influence of phosphorus on the test algae (Ronald and Donald, 1987, Miller et al., 1978, Thomas Shoaf, 1978). This method is based on the principle that maximum yield is proportional to the amount of nutrients which are present and bioavailable in minimal quantity in respect to the growth requirements of the test alga. However, it is too time-consuming. It requires 7 to 100 days for incubation only (Donald et al., 1994, Miller et al., 1978), and thus the number of conducted test is limited in a given time. This method is therefore not really suitable for routine lab analysis.

In order to shorten the working process, chemical extraction methods was developed with an aim to categorize soil P into different species that respond similarly to changes in natural environment. Single extraction methods are used to give an estimation of a certain form of P while sequential extraction methods aim to characterize P in more detail and quantify P into forms that are separated by some chemical property (*Table 1-3*)



Figure 1-3. A summary of methods for determining BAP in particulate form

Extraction procedures are often studied simultaneously with biological tests to examine the correlation between extracted P fraction and P uptake by algae. Olsen et al. (1954) first introduced bicarbonate extraction (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>) for predicting bioavailable P in calcareous soils. Since NaHCO<sub>3</sub> is used to decrease the Ca<sup>2+</sup> activity by forming CaCO<sub>3</sub>, phosphorus is more easily extracted as soluble in supernatant. However, in acid soils, the solution pH which was buffered to pH 8.5 promotes desorption of P. Also, in soils containing Al and Fe bound phosphorus, the P concentration in solution increases as the pH increases because the higher concentration of OH<sup>-</sup> anions decreases the ability of  $PO_4$ -P to compete for sorption sites (Soinne, 2009). This method is widely used in European countries such as Denmark, England and Australia, New Zealand while the Mehlich-1 test is widely used in the United States of America. Mehlich (1953) suggested "double-acid" extractant using 0.05 M HCl and 0.0125 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> for determining the amounts of phosphorus in acid, low cation exchange capacity soils. Sagher et al. (1975) demonstrated that amounts of phosphorus in surface soils assimilated by S.capricornutum in 28-day incubations originated in the fraction

extractable with 0.1 M NaOH (Dorich et al., 1985). Sharley et al. (1991) afterward showed that 0.1 M NaOH extractable phosphorus was closely related to the growth of several algal species when using the ratio of soil to solution (1:500) (w.t./w.t.) (Pierzynski and Sharpley, 2000, Sharley et al. 1991). In most recent studies, the phosphorus concentrations extracted by single-step extraction using 0.1 M NaOH are believed strongly correlated with algal-available P fraction in general soil (Pierzynski and Sharpley, 2000, Andre et al., 1996, Sharley et al. 1991).

Concurrently, the development of sequential extraction procedures has expanded in order to quantify phosphorus in more detail. The basis of this method is to sequentially extract several phosphorus compounds from the same soil sample by using extractants with increasing strength (Turner and Cade-Menun, 2005). The fractions that are extracted first have higher bioavailability while the fractions that are extracted last have the lowest bioavailability. A variety of sequential extraction schemes has been suggested on the basis of reactivity of a particular P phase in each given extractant. The most common schemes for determining phosphorus in soils are outlined in Table 1-3. Bowman and Cole (1978) proposed a sequential extraction scheme based on chemical solubility. In this scheme, the labile extracted by 0.5 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and the moderately labile fraction extracted by 1.0 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> were considered to be more readily bioavailable than the moderately resistant and highly resistant humic and fulvic extract with 0.5 M NaOH. Hedley et al. (1982) suggested a comprehensive scheme to quantify soil phosphorus also based on chemical solubility, and bioavailability was supposed on the basis of chemical stability. The labile P extracted in NaHCO<sub>3</sub> was assumed to be more bioavailable than those extracted by strong NaOH or  $H_2SO_4$ . In addition to

Scheme	Extractants	Designation
Olsen et al.	0.5 M NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	Labile P, available P for plant growth
		Suggestion for soil $pH > 7.4$ ; Need to buffer
		to pH 8.5 if soil pH $<$ 5.0.
Mehlich	0.05 M HCl + $0.0125$ M	Labile P, available P for plant growth
	$H_2SO_4$	Simultaneous multi-element extraction of K,
		Ca, Mg in soil.
Sharpley et al.	0.1 M NaOH	Labile P, immediately available P
		P proved equal to BAP determined by algal
		growth potential test.
Bowman and Cole	i.0.5 M NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	Labile P
	ii. 1.0 M H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	Moderately labile P
	iii. 0.5 M NaOH	Moderately resistant and highly resistant P
Hedley et al.	i.Anion exchange resin	Labile P
	ii. 0.5 M NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	Labile P
	iii. Fumigation, 0.5 M	Microbial P
	NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	
	iv. 0.1 M NaOH	Iron- and aluminium-bound P
	v. 0.1 M NaOH + sonication	Inter-aggregate P
	vi. 0.1 M HCl	Calcium-bound P
	vii. Digestion, concentrated	Residual P
	$H_2SO_4$ and $H_2O_2$	
Pacini and Gachter	i.1 M NH <sub>4</sub> Cl	Labile P, immediately available inorganic P,
		loosely adsorbed P
	ii. 0.11 BD	Redox-sensitive P bound to Fe and MN,
		organic P
	iii. 1 M NaOH	Humic substance bound P and poly-P
	iv. 0.5 M HCl	Carbonate and apatite bound-P, acid labile
		organic P

Table 1-3. The common extraction schemes for determining phosphorus in soil

the procedures developed for soil fractionation, Pacini and Gachter (1999) developed another sequential scheme which can be used for trace sources whereas the amounts of non-apatite particulate phosphorus extracted in 1.M NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, 0.11 M BD and 1 M NaOH, respectively, may be considered potentially bioavailable.

# **1.3.2** Potential of ultrasonic treatment for phosphorus extraction in particulate matters

Recently, ultrasonic treatment has been studied because it represents an efficient technique for extracting various elements or chemicals from food and environmental samples that takes less time than previous methods, thereby improving sampling yields and the quality of the extracts (Gurkan et al., 2016, Wu and Zhu, 2016, Salemi et al., 2013, Rondano and Pasquali, 2008, Dolatowski et al. 2007). Ultrasonic waves have frequencies above human-hearing sound (20 Hz to 20 kHz) but below microwave frequencies (300 MHz to 300 GHz). This technique is based on the penetration of ultrasonic waves into materials (Dolatowski et al. 2007), combined with their ability to transfer energy to attached substances such as P, thereby weakening the bonds with particulate matter and increasing release of the substances into the extractant. Despite its potentiality, its application to quantitative studies of BAP has been limited. This creates an idea that we can test ability of ultrasonic sound to rapidly extract P from soils and suspended sediments.

# 1.4. Objectives of this study

In efforts to control harmful cultural eutrophication, bioavailable phosphorus (BAP) in should be more concerned than total phosphorus (TP) due to its real impact on

cyanobacterial and algal growth. Previous studies have reported BAP in particulate is a great potential source for P pollution, and it becomes dominant in river water when rainfall or flood occurs. Several methods have been suggested for estimating particulate BAP but they are too time-consuming thus not yet suitable for frequent monitoring. Although ultrasonic treatment is potential, its applicability on BAP quantification is still uncertain. In this view, the overall objective of this research has been to develop a simple method that can quantify BAP in particulate forms not only quickly but also accurately. In order to archive a method, the following targets were considered:

- To examine the BAP fraction in particulate forms from agricultural sources including soils and river suspended sediments.
- (2) To consider the suitability of ultrasonic treatment for estimating particulate BAP.
- (3) To verify the bioavailability of P obtained from ultrasonic treatment to confirm if that P is really BAP.

### **1.5.** Structure of the thesis

This thesis is organized into six chapters:

## Chapter I

The thesis starts with the general introduction about phosphorus and important roles of BAP in eutrophication management; background reviews of conventional methods for quantifying particulate BAP; and explains the objectives of this study to test a simpler method for BAP analysis.

# Chapter II

In this chapter sampling sites, sample collection, methodology and analyses are described in detail.

# Chapter III

The investigation of ultrasonic treatment's applicability on extracting particulate BAP has been explained. The most optimal working conditions of the ultrasonic extraction are proposed.

## Chapter IV

The preliminary evaluations of phosphorus obtained from the ultrasonic extraction to algal growth potential tests are described in this chapter.

Chapter V

The bioavailability of phosphorus after the extractions is verified, and the relationship between the BAP obtained from extractions with the algal growth are illustrated.

Chapter VI

The overall conclusions and recommendations of the three-year doctoral research project are compiled in this last chapter.

## References

- Andre, F., Azdine, Q., Alain, D., Virginie B., 1996. Relation between algal available phosphate in the sediments of the River Garonne and chemically-determined phosphate fractions. Hydrobiologia 335, 43-48.
- Australian and New Zealand guidelines for fresh and marine water quality Department of the Environment, Australian Government, 2000; (accessed 2017 November 13). http://www.agriculture.gov.au/SiteCollectionDocuments/water/nwqms-guidelines-4-vo l1.pdf

- Bowman, R.A., Cole, C.V., 1978. An exploratory method for fractionation of organic phosphorus from grassland soils. Soil Science 125 (2), 95 101.
- Brady, N.C., Weil, R.R., 1996. The nature and properties of soils. 11<sup>th</sup> edition. Prentice Hall, New Jersey.
- Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, 2004; (accessed 2017 November 10). http://ceqg-rcqe.ccme.ca/download/en/205

https://www.crca.ca/wp-content/uploads/PDFs/LakeReports/Appendix4-WaterQuality Standards.pdf

- Chislock, M.F., Doster, E., Zitomer, R.A., Wilson, A.E., 2013. Eutrophication: Causes, Consequences, and Controls in Aquatic Ecosystems. Nature Education Knowledge 4(4), 10.
- DENR Administrative Order No.34, Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Philippines, 1990.(accessed 2017 November 09). http://www.wepa-db.net/policies/ law/philippines/dao34\_1990.htm
- Diaz, R.J., Rosenberg, R., 2008. Spreading dead zones and consequences for marine ecosystems. Science 321, 5891, 926 929.
- Dolatowski, Z.J., Stadnik, J., Stasiak, D., 2007. Applications of ultrasound in food technology. Acta Sci. Pol., Technol. Aliment. 6 (3), 89 99.
- Donald, A.S., Ronald, L.R., Roxanne, J., 1994. A shortened algal growth potential test. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 32, 201 – 205.
- Dorich, R.A., Nelson, D.W., Sommers, L.E., 1985. Estimating algal available phosphorus in suspended sediments by chemical extraction. J. Environ. Qual. 14, 400 - 405.

- Dupas, R., Delmas, M., Dorioz, J-M., Garnier, J., Moatar, F., Gascuel-Odoux, C., 2015. Assessing the impact of agricultural pressures on N and P loads and eutrophication risk. Ecological Indicators 48, 396 – 407.
- Ellison, M.E., Brett, M.T., 2006. Particulate phosphorus bioavailability as a function of stream flow and land cover. Water Research 40, 1258 1268.
- Environmental quality standards for human health Ministry of the Environment, Government of Japan, 2001. Conservation of the water environment, Chapter 3 (accessed 2017 November 09). http://www.env.go.jp/en/water/wq/wemj/water.html; Environmental standards of water quality, Chapter 7 pg.90 (accessed 2017 November 09). https://www.env.go.jp/earth/coop/coop/document/wpctm\_j/04-wpctmj1-07.pdf
- Fox, G.A., Purvis, R.A., Penn, C.J., 2016. Streambanks: A net source of sediment and phosphorus to streams and rivers. J. Environ. Manage. 181, 602 614.
- Grattan, L.M., Holobaugh, S., Morris, J.G.Jr., 2016. Harmful algal blooms and public health. Harmful Algae 57, 2 8.
- Hedley, M.J., Stewart, J.W.B., Chauhan, B.S., 1982. Changes in inorganic and organic soil phosphorus fractions induced by cultivation practices and by laboratory incubations. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 46 (5), 970 – 976.
- McDowell, R.W., Norris, M., Cox, N., 2016. Using provenance of sediment and bioavailable phosphorus to help mitigate water quality impact in an agricultural catchment. J. Environ. Qual. 45 (4), 1276 1285.
- Mehlich, A., 1953. Determination of P, K, Ca, Mg, and NH<sub>4</sub>. Short Test Methods used in Soil Test Division, North Carolina, Department of Agriculture, Raleigh. (accessed 2017 January 18). http://www.ncagr.gov/agronomi/pdffiles/mehlich53.pdf

Miller, W.E., Greene, J.C., Shiroyama, T., 1978. The Selenastrum capricornutum printz

algal assay bottle test. Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA), Corvallis, Oregon.

- Monteagudo, L., Moreno, J.L., Picazo, F., 2012. River eutrophication: Irrigated vs. non-irrigated agriculture through different spatial scales. Water Research 46, 2759 2771.
- Office of Water Regulations and Standards Environmental Protection Agency, United States. Phosphorus: Water quality standards Criteria summaries – A compilation of State/ Federal criteria, 1988, pg.6, 19 – 20 (accessed 2017 November 09). https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/00001NC8.PDF?Dockey=00001NC8.PDF
- Okada, M., Peterson, S.A., 2002. Water pollution control policy and management: The Japanese experience. Gyosei Pub. Ltd. Tokyo: Japan, 287.
- Olsen, S.R., Cole, C.V., Watanabe, F.S, Dean, L.A., 1954. Estimation of available phosphorus in soil by extraction with sodium bicarbonate. USDA Circular 939: 1 19.
- Pacini, N., Gachter, R., 1999. Speciation of riverine particulate phosphorus during rain events. Biogeochemistry 47, 87 109.
- Pierzynski, G. M., Sharpley, A., 2000. Bioavailable Phosphorus in Soil. Methods of phosphorus analysis for Soils, Sediments, Residuals and Waters. Southern Cooperative Series Bulletin 396.
- Rattan, K.J., Corriveau, J.C., Brua, R.B., Culp, J.M., Yates, A.G., Chambers, P.A., 2017. Quantifying seasonal variation in total phosphorus and nitrogen from prairie streams in the Red River Basin, Manitoba Canada. Science of the Total Environment, 575, 649 – 659.

- Ronald, L.R., Donald, A.S., 1987. The use of algal growth potential test for data assessment. J. Water Pollution Control Federation. 59 (4), 222 227.
- Sagher, A., Harris, R.F., Armstrong, D.E., 1975. Availability of sediment phosphorus to microorganisms. University of Wisconsin, Water Research Center, Technical report WICWRC75 – 01.
- Sharpley, A.N., Troeger, W.W., Smith, S.J., 1991. The measurement of bioavailable phosphorus in agricultural runoff. J. Environ. Qual. 20, 235 238.
- Soinne, H., 2009. Extraction methods in soil phosphorus characterization: limitations and applications. Pro Terra 47. Helsinki University Print, 40 49.
- Thomas Shoaf, W., 1978. Use of algal assays to determine the potential for phytoplankton growth. Hydrological Sciences Bulletin des Science Hydrologiques 23 (4), 12, 439 444.
- Turner, B.L., Cade-Menun, B.J., Condron, L.M., Newman, S., 2005. Extraction of soil organic phosphorus. Talanta 66 (2), 294 – 306.
- US National Research Council, 2000. Clean coastal waters: Understanding and reducing the effects of nutrient pollution. National Academy Press, Washington D.C 20418. Part 2: Understanding the problem, Chapter 3: Which nutrients matter, pg.65 – 68 (accessed 2017 November 09). https://www.nap.edu/read/9812/chapter/5#65
- van Puijenbroek, P.J.T.M., Cleij, P., Visser, H., 2014. Aggregated indices for trend in eutrophication of different types of fresh water in the Netherlands. Ecological Indicators 36, 456 462.
- Zielinski, P., Jekatierynczuk-Rudczyk, E., 2015. Comparison of mineral and organic phosphorus forms in regulated and restored section of a small lowland river (NE Poland). Ecohydrology & Hydrobiology 15 (3), 125 135.

# **Chapter 2 Methodology**

## 2.1. Outlines

To archive the overall objectives, the following issues were considered:

- BAP in soil and suspended sediment samples was estimated using the conventional Sharpley's extraction (1991).
- The optimal working conditions of proposed ultrasonic treatment for BAP extraction were investigated. The BAP values obtained from ultrasonic treatment were compared with those extracted by conventional Sharpley's method in order to identify the ultrasonic treatment's most optimal working condition.
- Algal growth potential (AGP) test was conducted using the soil and suspended sediment samples as the sole P source to confirm the "real" bioavailability of extracted P.

This chapter explains more detail about each of sampling and analytical methods which supported the aforementioned target methodology.

# 2.2. Sampling site

Mikawa Bay is one of the most eutrophic regions in Japan's main island. We selected Umeda River (about 22 km in length, with a basin area of approximately  $86 \text{ km}^2$ ) which flows into Mikawa Bay through Toyohashi City, Aichi Prefecture as the study site (*Fig.2-1*). The watershed includes forest (1.6% of land use) in the upstream, intensive agriculture (97.5%), especially cabbage fields at which Toyohashi is one of the leading producers in Japan, and urban area (0.9%) in the mid- and downstream. In the agricultural activities surrounding this watershed, phosphate fertilizers are intensively used for growing crops. That has exacerbated nutrient pollution of adjacent bodies of water and has led to the widespread eutrophication in Mikawa Bay (Rasul et al., 2014).



Figure 2-1. Umeda watershed and locations of the sampling sites.

A watershed is more easily eutrophied when it situates in or nearby a fertile area, thereby we collected representative samples of soil from a Chinese cabbage field in river basin. Soils were taken on 2011 January  $26^{th}$  in a depth of 0 to 50 mm from a fertilized Chinese cabbage field located approximately 200 m southwest of Onmaya Bridge (approximately 6.3 km upstream from the river mouth) (*Fig.2-1*). The depth of collected soil was chosen to represent an average effective depth of surface soil–runoff interaction for a range of soils, rainfall intensities, slopes, and soil management characteristics. The locations in the cabbage field were chosen randomly. The collected soils were combined to produce a single homogeneous sample to be representative of the surface soil in the study area.

Suspended sediments were concentrated from river waters. We collected river water samples manually immediately after storm events on 2014 September 5<sup>th</sup>, 11<sup>th</sup> and

October 6<sup>th</sup> when the suspended sediment was well mixed. River water was obtained by dipping a bucket into the river from Hataketa Bridge, near the water quality monitoring system (4.9 km upstream from the river mouth) (*Fig.2-1*). The collected sediments were representative of suspended load in the study river system in the autumn.

# 2.3. Sample pretreatment and preservation

Immediately after collection, all samples were transported to the laboratory. In order to minimize P degradation during storage, the suspended sediment samples were concentrated by continuous-flow centrifugation at average speed 196,000 m s<sup>-2</sup> for 250 mL/min (Hitachi Koki, Tokyo, Japan; Himac CR22G high-speed refrigerated centrifuge; R18C continuous rotor) and decantation. The centrifuge intensity was applied to separate suspended sediment from river water that was not sufficient to separate colloidal particles from the supernatant. Then the combined soil and concentrated sediment samples were air-dried at 40°C for three days. All samples were sieved through a 0.149-mm mesh screen to remove small particles such as plant fibers and colloids of decayed humic matters, and then stored under refrigeration.

#### 2.4. Extraction methods

### 2.4.1 Conventional mechanical shaking extraction

Sharpley's extraction (*Fig.2-2a*) was chosen as the conventional method to quantify the BAP concentrations in the target samples. This method was first suggested by Dorich et al. (1985) and proved to be similar to BAP determined by algal growth potential tests (Sharpley et al., 1991). BAP concentrations in soil and sediment samples were determined by a single-step extraction (Dorich et al., 1985) in 0.1 M NaOH using



*Figure 2-2.* Procedure for particulate BAP measurement including a comparison between the two extraction methods.

conventional mechanical shaking for 17 hours. This method was demonstrated effectively estimate BAP in agricultural runoff in Oklahoma, USA at a ratio of soil (or suspended sediment) to extractant of 2 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> using 0.1 M NaOH as extractant (Sharpley et al., 1991). 100 mg of each sample (soil or sediment) was placed in a 50-mL centrifuge tube with 50 mL of 0.1 M NaOH, shaken mechanically for 17 hours on a multi shaker (EYELA, Tokyo, Japan; MMS-210 orbid multi shaker) at ambient temperature.

### 2.4.2 Proposed ultrasonic extraction

To shorten the extraction time and improve the extraction efficiency, we tested a new method based on the use of an ultrasonic horn (Branson, Connecticut, USA; Ultrsonic Disruptor Sonifier II, model W-450) (*Fig.2-3a*). The horn has a fixed operating frequency of 20 kHz and can generate intensities ranging from 0 to 400 W. During treatment, the horn was placed 1 cm from the bottom of the container without contacting the walls of the centrifuge vial that contained the soil or river sediment sample in the extractant (distilled water or 0.1 M NaOH) (*Fig2-3c*), and which was fully immersed in an ice-water bath to prevent a temperature increase (*Fig2-3b*). Firstly, the extraction conditions were varied to investigate the optimal working conditions for the following parameters: the ultrasonic intensity, ratio of soil or sediment to solution volume, and extraction time (*Fig.2-2b*). Each treatments were performed for three independent samples (i.e., n = 3). Next, we fixed the working conditions at the identified optimal values, and again conducted the ultrasonic extraction in parallel with the mechanical shaking method in order to evaluate alternation of the two methods by statistical tests.



*Figure 2-3.* Equipments were used in ultrasonic extraction. (a) Sonifier front view; (b) proposed assembly in our experiment; (c) the horn was placed 1 cm from the bottom of the experimental vial.

#### 2.4.3 Phosphorus analysis

The concentrations of P transferred to the solution phase obtained from the extractions were measured colorimetrically on neutralized extracts by molybdenum blue method (*Fig.2-2c*). This method (Murphy and Riley, 1962) has been used as a standard method for determining the concentration of extracted P. It is based on the reaction of PO<sub>4</sub>-P with molybdate to form a blue compound. The intensity of the color corresponds to the P concentration in solution and can be measured by a spectrophotometer (Bran and Luebe TRAACS 800 Autoanalyzer, Norderstedt, Germany). Extracts are the clear supernatant in each sample vial that were collected right after the extractions by centrifugation at 7,350 m s<sup>-2</sup> (Kubota, Tokyo, Japan; model 5100 table-top centrifuge with an RS-4 universal swing rotor) for 30 min (*Fig.2-2*). The solid residue was washed twice with 50 mL of distilled water for 10 min each on the orbital shaker, and then separated from the wash water by means of centrifugation (7,350 m s<sup>-2</sup>, 30 min)

(*Fig.2-2*). The clear supernatants of wash waters were pooled and analyzed to prevent underestimation of the extracted P as a result of secondary adsorption of the liberated P by solid surfaces in the residue (Ruttenberg, 1992; Pacini and Gachter, 1999), whereas the residues were preserved for the following AGP tests (*Fig.2-2*). To prepare samples for the P analysis, the extracts and wash waters were neutralized with 5 M HCl (NaOH extracts) or with either 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH (all samples) and diluted (NaOH extracts, to 50% of the original concentration), and kept at 4°C in the dark until analysis.

The analysis of raw extracts measured the amount of soluble reactive extractable phosphorus in each sample while the analysis of digested samples measured the amount of total phosphorus (TP) extracted in each sample (*Fig.2-2*). The digestion with 20 mL of distilled water and 4 mL of potassium persulfate ( $K_2S_2O_8$ ) (4%) in an autoclave (Sanyo, Osaka, Japan; MLS-3750) at 120 °C for 30 minutes converted all of P forms into soluble P which can be detected by autoanalyzer. The quantity of non-extractable phosphorus remained in each samples was derived as the analysis of digested residue solid after extraction and twice washes (*Fig.2-2*). All measurements were the average of duplicates. The recovery rates were calculated by dividing the sum of the P in the supernatants and the P in the solid residues by the TP in the samples before extraction.

## 2.5. Algal growth potential (AGP) tests

### 2.5.1 Incubation procedure

The particulate residues after extraction (*Fig.2-2*) at the most optimal working conditions identified in *Chapter 3* were washed twice with distilled water to remove any remaining NaOH, then air-dried at 40 °C, and preserved in refrigerator for bioassays to verify the bioavailability for algal growth potential. The soil and sediment samples

without any extraction were defined as "control sample" (I); the residue solid of samples extracted with ultrasonic treatment were termed extracted samples "with ultrasonic treatment" (II); and the samples extracted by conventional mechanical shaking for 17 hours were called "with mechanical shaking" (III) (*Fig.2-2*).

Prior to the evaluation of bioavailability, we prepared P-starved *Microcystis aeruginosa*. We collected algal cells from stock cultures (clone NIES 44, National Institute for Environmental Studies Collection, Japan) by centrifugation (7350 m s<sup>-2</sup>) for 30 min. Then, we rinsed these cells twice with P-free CB medium (Kasai et al., 2004, Shirai et al., 1986) using the aforementioned centrifugation. We incubated the rinsed algal cells into P-free CB medium in 500-mL Erlenmeyer flasks for two weeks until the algae began using their intercellular P. The deficiency of P in the algae was indicated by a color fade of the culture from dark green to yellowish green.

We cultured the P-starved *M.aeruginosa*  $(1.3 \times 10^5 \text{ cells mL}^{-1})$  into P-free CB media containing samples (respectively I, II and III) as the sole P source. *M.aeruginosa* was selected because it is one of the most common cyanobacteria responsible for blue-green algal blooms in fresh water and in low-salinity estuaries around the world (Okubo et al., 2012, Ren et al., 2016, Marinho et al., 2007). We also cultured the algae to P-free CB media containing no external P source for "negative controls", whereas CB-media containing  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate were used for the "positive controls". Incubation occurred in a growth chamber under cool white fluorescent light with a 12:12-h light: dark cycle at 25 °C for 42 days. The microscopic cell count was conducted using a hemocytometer to observe the contamination of indigenous bacteria during incubation period. Growth yield was monitored by chlorophyll-*a* (Chl-*a*), suspended solid (SS), particulate organic carbon (POC), particulate organic nitrogen (PON), DP and PP using samples taken on specific days during incubation. All measurements were the average of three independent replicates per sample.

# 2.5.2 Analyses of algal growth monitoring parameters

In order to analyze Chl-*a*, SS, POC and PON, DP and PP, 10 mL of each well-stirred sample medium was respectively passed through filter papers (GF/F glass microfiber filters  $\varphi$  47 mm, Whatman, GE Healthcare, Tokyo, Japan) applying vacuum until the sample was dry. For the measurement of SS, POC and PON, DP and PP filter papers were prepared a day before by washing with distilled water, then dried at at 400 °C for 2 hours to eliminate microfibers which can lead to the overestimation of the retained residue amount.

Chl-*a* was determined spectrophotometrically (US Environmental Protection Agency, 1991) (V-530 UV/VIS Spectrophotometer, JASCO Corporation, Japan) after extraction the filter papers with 10 mL of methanol overnight at -20°C in the dark.

DP was measured by the autoanalyzer (Bran and Luebe TRAACS 800 Autoanalyzer, Norderstedt, Germany) as the soluble P in the raw filtrate, whereas PP was analyzed using the dry filter papers after digestion with 20 mL of distilled water and 4 mL of  $K_2S_2O_8(4\%)$  at 120 °C for 30 minutes.

SS was determined as the difference in the weight filter papers before and after the filtration. The filter papers were dried at 105°C for 2 hours (Gray et al., 2000).

POC and PON were determined by a NC analyzer (Sumigraph NC-22A, Sumika Chemical Analysis Service, Ltd. Tokyo, Japan) using the filter papers after measuring SS.
# 2.6. Statistics

A two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was conducted to compare the effect of extraction methods (ultrasonic treatment versus conventional extraction, using distilled water versus 0.1 M NaOH) on the concentration of P extracted from four samples (soil versus sediments) (Ichihara, 1989). F-ratio in ANOVA test was used to evaluate the equality of mean values.

 $F = \frac{variation \ between \ sample \ means}{variation \ within \ samples}$ 

Probability p value was used to evaluate probability that there was no difference between extraction methods or sample types, or the interaction of extraction methods and sample types. It can take on a value from zero to one to express the chance that our hypothesis will occur. Zero means there is no chance that our hypothesis will occur whereas one means that the hypothesis is certain to occur. Numbers between zero and one quantify the uncertainty of the hypothesis.

A Pearson correlation coefficient r and linear regression (Ichihara, 1989) was measured to analyze the similarity between P extraction with the ultrasonic treatment and the conventional extraction methods at certain conditions (i.e. same ultrasonic intensity, ratio of soil or sediment to extractant, or extraction time) and the relationship between extracted P with the algal growth potential. The formula is:

$$r = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x[i] - \bar{x})(y[i] - \bar{y})}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x[i] - \bar{x})^2 \times \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y[i] - \bar{y})^2}}$$

where x[i] and y[i] are the raw samples from the two datasets that are to be correlated against, and  $\bar{x}$  and  $\bar{y}$  are their respective means.

Student t distribution, significance level  $\alpha$  and probability p (Ichihara, 1989) were used to test the differences between the ultrasonic treatment and the conventional mechanically extraction. A Student-t is calculated as:

$$t = \frac{\bar{x} - \mu}{(s/\sqrt{n})}$$

where  $\bar{x}$  is the sample mean,  $\mu$  is the population mean, s is the standard deviation of the sample, n is the sample size.

# References

- Dorich, R.A., Nelson, D.W., Sommers, L.E., 1985. Estimating algal available phosphorus in suspended sediments by chemical extraction. J. Environ. Qual. 14, 400 405.
- Gray, J.R., Glysson, G.D., Turcios, L.M., Schwarz, G.E., 2000. Comparability of suspended-sediment concentration and total suspended solids data. US Geological Survey, Water –Resources Investigations Report 00-4191, Reston, Virgina. (accessed 2017 February 1) https://water.usgs.gov/osw/pubs/WRIR00-4191.pdf
  Ichihara, K., 1989. Statistics for Bioscience. Nankodo Co., Ltd., pp. 28 33, pp. 150 160.
- Kasai, F., Kawachi, M., Erata, M. and Watanabe, M.M., 2004. NIES-Collection List of strains (7<sup>th</sup> edition). Microalgae and Protozoa. Research Report from the National Institute for Environmental Studies, Japan No.182, pp.50.
- Marinho, M.M., Azevedo, S.M.F.O, 2007. Influence of N/P ratio on competitive abilities for nitrogen and phosphorus by *Microcystis aeruginosa* and *Aulacoseira distans*. Aquat. Ecol. 41 (4), 525 533.
- Murphy, J., Riley, J.P., 1962. A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. Anal. Chim. Acta 27, 31 36.

- Okubo, Y., Inoue, T., Yokota, K., 2012. Estimating bioavailability of soil particulate phosphorus to *Microcystis aeruginosa*. J. Appl. Phycol. 24, 1503 1507.
- Pacini, N., Gachter, R., 1999. Speciation of riverine particulate phosphorus during rain events. Biogeochemistry 47, 87 109.
- Rasul, E., Inoue, T., Aoki, S., Yokota, K., Matsumoto, Y., Okubo, Y., 2014. Nutrient enrichment and physical environmental effects caused by typhoons in a semi-enclosed bay. Journal of Ecotechnology Research, 17 (3 4), 107 114.
- Ren, L., Wang, P., Wang, C., Chen, J., Hou, J., Qian, J., 2017. Algal growth and utilization of phosphorus studied by combined mon-culture and co-culture experiments. Environmental Pollution 220 (A), 274 285.
- Ruttenberg C.K., 1992. Development of a sequential extraction method for different forms of phosphorus in marine sediments. Limnology and Oceanography 37 (7), 1460 1482.
- Sharpley, A.N., Troeger, W.W., Smith, S.J., 1991. The measurement of bioavailable phosphorus in agricultural runoff. J. Environ. Qual. 20, 235 238.
- Shirai, M., Takamura, Y., Sakuma, H., Kojima, M., Nakano, M., 1986. Toxicity and delayed type hypersensitivity caused by *Microcystis* blooms from Lake Kasumigaura. Microbiology and Immunology 30 (7), 731 – 735.
- Turner, B.L., 2008. Soil organic phosphorus in tropical forests: an assessment of the NaOH-EDTA extraction procedure for quantitative analysis by solution <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectroscopy. European Journal of Soil Science 59, 453 466.
- US Environmental Protection Agency, 1991. Project, Lake Michigan Mass Balance, Vol. 3, Chap. 4, ESS Method 150.1, 359 363.

van Puijenbroek, P.J.T.M., Cleij, P., Visser, H., 2014. Aggregated indices for trend in eutrophication of different types of fresh water in the Netherlands. Ecological Indicators 36, 456 – 462.

# **Chapter 3 Optimal Working Conditions of the Proposed Ultrasonic Extraction**

# 3.1. Outlines

In this chapter, the applicability of ultrasonic treatment for extracting particulate P was investigated. The P obtained from extraction was assumed to be BAP. Several parallel experiments were carried out to clarify the optimal conditions for the ultrasonic treatment at which the P extracted by ultrasonic treatment were the most similar to those obtained by the conventional mechanical shaking method. The similarity was evaluated by statistical analyses. The effects of ultrasonic intensity, ratio of sample (soil or suspended sediment) to solution volume, extraction time, and extractant type (distilled water versus NaOH) on the concentration of extracted P were investigated.

#### 3.2. Investigation procedure

At first, the values of ratio of soil or sediment to extractant and extraction time were held at 2 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> (Sharpley et al., 1991) and 5 min (Turner, 2008), whereas ultrasonic intensity was varied respectively 10, 15, 20, 30, and 40 W to select the optimal value. Next, the values of ultrasonic intensity and extraction time were fixed at the aforementioned optimal value and 5 min, whereas the ratio of soil or sediment to extractant was varied respectively 0.02, 0.10, 0.20, 0.50, 0.70, 1.0, and 2.0 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> (Fuhrman et al., 2005). Finally, the values of ultrasonic intensity and ratio of soil or sediment to extractant was set at the optimal values, whereas the extraction time was varied respectively 1, 2, 5, and 15 min (Beizhen et al., 2008). Additionally, in order to extract the BAP forms that exist naturally in water the ultrasonic parameters with distilled water (pH 7) as the extractant was also tested. The water-extractable P (WEP) has been shown to be the form of P that is immediately available for uptake by aquatic biota (McDowell and Sharpley, 2001). Due to extraction being slower with distilled water (Zhou et al., 2001), I a 30-min duration for the distilled water extraction was also included.

#### 3.3. Samples

The proposed extraction was tested on four samples, including one soil and three suspended sediments: (a) Soil sample collected on 2011 January 26<sup>th</sup>; (b) Suspended sediment sample collected on 2014 September 5<sup>th</sup>; (c) Suspended sediment sample collected on 2014 September 11<sup>th</sup>; (d) Suspended sediment collected on 2014 October 6<sup>th</sup>. Extractions were conducted triplicates. P concentrations were the average of duplicate analyses.

### 3.4. Results and discussion

#### 3.4.1 Ultrasonic extraction's working conditions

Firstly, in order to optimize the ultrasonic intensity, the ratio of the solid phase (soil or sediment) to the extractant (distilled water or 0.1 M NaOH) was fixed at 2.0 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>, whereas the intensity was varied from 10 to 40 W. The results showed that with 5 min of extraction, increasing the ultrasonic intensity slightly increased the amount of extracted phosphorus (*Fig.3-1*). In both extraction treatments (using distilled water or 0.1 M NaOH), increasing the intensity above 30 W had no significant effect on the amount of extracted P. The intensity was not tested higher than 40 W to avoid loud noise (which can injure workers' hearing) and to minimize the risk of erosion of the ultrasonic horn.



*Figure 3-1.* Effect of ultrasonic intensity on the amount of extracted P. Each value represented the mean of triplicates. Bars represent positive and negative errors.



(---) Linear regression separating extractions with distilled water and with 0.1 M NaOH.

*Figure 3-2.* Pearson correlations between extraction methods when the ultrasonic intensity was 10 W (i), 20 W (ii), 30 W (iii), 40 W (iv) respectively.

In the water extraction of all soil and sediment samples (*Fig.3-1*), the extracted P rose marginally but similar to the P concentration obtained by the conventional mechanical shaking extraction (slope = 0.99 to 1.30, r = 0.96 to 0.97) (*Fig.3-2i to iv*). In the NaOH extraction of sediment (b) (*Fig.3-1b*) and sediment (c) (*Fig.3-1c*), the P concentration fluctuated between 15 and 30 W of ultrasonic intensity. In the NaOH extraction of sediment (d) (*Fig.3-1d*), the P concentration gently fell when increasing the ultrasonic intensity from 15 to 20 W. However, in the most cases, the concentration of P obtained by the analysis at 30 W was the most similar (slope = 0.91, r = 0.99) (*Fig.3-2iii*) to the values extracted by the conventional mechanical shaking method. It was compatible with the statistics using data of NaOH extraction individually (slope = 0.91, r = 0.97) (*Fig.3-2iii*). Thus, 30 W was chosen as the optimal ultrasonic intensity.

Next, the effect of seven samples (soil or sediment) to extractant ratios with the optimal ultrasonic intensity of 30 W and 5 min of extraction time was examined (*Fig.3-3*). The P concentration was generally the highest at the smallest ratio (0.02 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) (*Fig.3-3*). This extremly high P concentration could have resulted from the fraction of available P in the NaOH solution with small amout of sample (soil or sediment), leading to asymtotic behaviour. Additionally, at the small values of sample to extractant ratio (less than 0.50 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>), the P concentration fluctuated. This may have resulted from the greater volume of solution into which the P could diffuse. To avoid this problem, the optimal ratio was chosen as 1.0 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>, because the extracted P at this point in most cases was the most similar (slope = 0.96, r = 0.98) (*Fig.3-4vi*) to the values obtained using the conventional mechanical shaking method. This is different with the advice of Sharpley *et al.* (1991), who proposed that the ratio as 2.0 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> was the most effective ratio for chemical extractions.



*Figure 3-3.* Effect of ratio of sample (soil or suspended sediment) to extractant volume on the extracted P. Each value represented the mean of triplicates. Bars represent positive and negative errors.

Based on these results, the effect of sonication time on the amount of extracted P was studied using 30 W and a ratio of 1.0 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> of soils or sediments to extractant. There was no clear pattern for the relationship between concentration of extracted P and the duration of ultrasonic treatment although there was some evidence that the P concentration increased with increasing extraction duration (*Fig.3-5*). Extending the extraction time beyond 15 min did not increase the efficiency of extraction, thus using a shorter extraction time would improve the working efficiency. *Fig.3-5* shows that the quantity of P extracted in 1 min was similar to the values obtained using other durations, and the values at this duration were generally close to those obtained by the conventional mechanical shaking treatment (intergrating data: slope = 1.01, r = 0.98; 0.1 M NaOH extraction individually: slope = 1.01, r = 0.98) (*Fig.3-6i*).



(---) Linear regression separating extractions with distilled water and with 0.1 M NaOH.

*Figure 3-4.* Pearson correlations between extraction methods when the ratio was 0.02 (i), 0.1 (ii), 0.2 (iii), 0.5 (iv), 0.7 (v), 1.0 (vi), 2.0 (vii), respectively.



*Figure 3-5.* Effect of extraction time on the extracted P. Each value represented the mean of triplicates. Bars represent positive and negative errors.



(---) Linear regression separating extractions with distilled water and with 0.1 M NaOH.

*Figure 3-6.* Pearson correlations between extraction methods when the extraction time was 1 min (i), 2 min (ii), 5 min (iii), 15 min (iv) respectively.

Therefore, the optimal conditions for extraction with 0.1 M NaOH appear to be 30 W of ultrasonic intensity for 1 min of extraction duration, and a ratio of 1.0 mg sample (soil or sediment) per mL of extractant.

#### 3.4.2 Comparison between the extraction methods

Table 3-1 summarized the concentrations of P obtained by the different extraction methods. On average, the concentrations of P obtained using distilled water extraction under the optimal conditions for the ultrasonic method ranged from 14.0 to 24.8% of total P, versus 13.2 to 20.3% for the conventional method. In the 0.1 M NaOH extraction, P values ranged from 36.4 to 85.3% of TP, versus 38.4 to 77.5% for the conventional method. Our results were in close agreement with those of previous studies which proved percent BAP of TP was 32.0 to 83.0% in runoff (Fabre et al., 1996; Sharpley, 1993). In addition, the P concentrations extracted using 0.1 M NaOH plus ultrasonic treatment were notably (F = 99.0, p < 0.0001) (*Table 3-3*) higher than those extracted by distilled water. Even after only 1 min, much amount of the total P was extracted by both the mechanical shaking and ultrasonic treatment methods (Fig. 3-5 and Table 3-1). There are two likely explanations. First, NaOH is a stronger solvent than distilled water, thus it is able to extract more P. Second, NaOH extraction may lead to selective extraction of iron- bound P that would not be extracted by water (Holtan et al., 1988). The color of sediment samples were yellow (Sediment c and Sediment d) and yellowish grey (Sediment b), possibly due to the presence of iron components. Therefore, the P concentrations obtained by extracting these sediment samples with NaOH would be higher than those obtained from the soil samples which was dark grey and therefore probably contained less iron.

*Table 3-1.* Mean values of extracted P concentration obtained using the different methods. (a) Soil sample collected on 2011 January  $26^{th}$ ; (b) Suspended sediment sample collected on 2014 September  $5^{th}$ ; (c) Suspended sediment sample collected on 2014 September  $11^{th}$ ; (d) Suspended sediment collected on 2014 October  $6^{th}$ . Each value represented the mean of triplicates ( $\pm$  SD).

P conc. $(mg kg^{-1})$		Soil (a)	Sediment (b)	Sediment (c)	Sediment (d)
ТР		$1124\pm155$	$2819\pm128$	$3413\pm44$	$2580\pm49$
Water extraction	Conventional extraction 17h	$148\pm40$	$444\pm19$	$627\pm47$	$525\pm52$
	Conventional extraction 1min*	n.a.	$130\pm00$	$140\pm00$	$130\pm00$
	Ultrasonic extraction 5 min	$108\pm50$	$535\pm28$	$883\pm34$	$736\pm10$
	Ultrasonic extraction 1 min	$157\pm50$	$417\pm58$	$680\pm46$	$639\pm19$
0.1 M NaOH extraction	Conventional extraction 17h	425 ± 15	$1736 \pm 186$	$2435\pm760$	$2000\pm41$
	Conventional extraction 1min*	n.a.	$1080\pm000$	$2010\pm00$	$1180\pm00$
	Ultrasonic extraction 5 min	$416\pm90$	$1536\pm176$	$2497\pm878$	$1748\pm317$
	Ultrasonic extraction 1 min	$409\pm21$	$1632\pm300$	$2908 \pm 123$	$1803\pm53$

\* Values of P concentration extracted by shaking in 1 min were measured once.

*Table 3-2.* ANOVA for the effect of extraction methods (ultrasonic treatment versus conventional extraction, using distilled water versus 0.1 M NaOH) on the concentration of P extracted from four samples.

Source of variation	Degrees of freedom	F-ratio	p-value
Extraction methods	3	99.00	< 0.0001
Sample types	3	146.46	< 0.0001
Interaction	9	14.07	< 0.0001
Total	47		

# 3.5. Summary

The examination of applying ultrasonic treatment for the extraction of BAP from an agricultural soil and suspended sediments was described. We determined the optimal conditions for the ultrasonic treatment, with distilled water and NaOH as extractants; the NaOH extracted a higher proportion of BAP. The technically simple procedure proposed in this study is an extraction time of only 1 min, compared to 17 hours for BAP extraction using the conventional mechanical shaking method. The ratio of soil to extractant in the new technique is also lower, at 1 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>. The BAP values obtained using the ultrasonic treatment with 0.1 M NaOH were similar to (r = 0.98) those obtained using the conventional method. These findings suggest that the new method provides a promising alternative for quantifying BAP in soils and river sediments. Further research should be done to test the "real" bioavailability for algal growth of BAP obtained from the extractions.

#### References

- Beizhen, X., Lin, W., Hong, L., 2008. Using low intensity ultrasound to improve the efficiency of biological phosphorus removal. Ultrasonics Sonochemistry, 15, 775 – 781.
- Fabre, A., Qotbi, A., Dauta, A., Baldy, V., 1996. Relation between algal available phosphate in the sediments of the River Garonne and chemically-determined phosphate fractions. Hydrobiologia 355, 43 48.
- Fuhrman, J.K., Zhang, H., Schroder, J.L., Davis, R.L., Payton, M.E., 2005.
  Water-soluble phosphorus as affected by soil to extractant ratios, extraction, times, and electrolyte. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 36, 925 935.

- Holtan, H., Kamp-Nielsen, L. & Stuanes, A.O., 1988. Phosphorus in soil, water and sediment: an overview. Hydrobiologia, 170, 19 34.
- McDowell, R.W., Sharpley, A.N., 2001. Approximating phosphorus release from soils to surface runoff and subsurface drainage. J. Environ. Qual. 30, 508 520.
- Sharpley, A.N., Troeger, W.W., Smith, S.J., 1991. The measurement of bioavailable phosphorus in agricultural runoff. J. Environ. Qual. 20, 235 238.
- Sharpley A.N., 1993. Assessing phosphorus bioavailability in agricultural soils and runoff. Fertilizer Research 36, 259 272.
- Turner B.L., 2008. Soil organic phosphorus in tropical forests: an assessment of the NaOH-EDTA extraction procedure for quantitative analysis by solution <sup>31</sup>P NMR spectroscopy. European Journal of Soil Science 59, 453 466.
- Zhou, Q., Gibson, C. E., Zhu. Y., 2001. Evaluation of phosphorus bioavailability in sediments of three contrasting lakes in China and the UK. Chemosphere 42, 221 225.

# Chapter 4 Algal Growth Potential Indicators of Particulate Phosphorus After NaOH Extraction

#### 4.1. Outlines

The purpose of this chapter was to preliminarily evaluate the bioavailability for algal growth of particulate BAP which was estimated in soil and suspended sediment samples by the extractions proposed in the previous chapter. The evaluation was conducted by applying the residues after NaOH extractions to AGP tests. The 0.1 M NaOH was assumed to be able to entirely extract BAP in a single treatment, i.e. the algae would not grow in the media incubated with sample residues after extractions due to lack of P supply. The samples without any extraction were defined as "control sample" (I); the samples extracted with ultrasonic treatment were termed extracted samples "with ultrasonic treatment" (II); and the samples extracted by conventional mechanical shaking for 17 hours were called "with mechanical shaking" (III). P-free CB media containing no external P source were prepared for "negative controls" (V).

#### 4.2. Investigation procedure

2 mL of P-starved *M.aeruginosa*  $(1.3 \times 10^5 \text{ cells mL}^{-1})$  from the stock solution was cultured into 100 mL Erlenmeyer flask containing 58 mL of P-free CB media and dried samples (respectively I, II and III), equivalent to 0.2 mg-P L<sup>-1</sup>, as the sole P source, or negative and positive controls (respectively IV and V). The amount of P supply for algal cultures corresponded to the Chl-*a* in an eutrophic lakes in summer (French and Petticrew, 2007) that should be managed less than 200 µg L<sup>-1</sup> (Kasprzak et al., 2008).

Incubation occurred in a growth chamber under cool white fluorescent light at around 20 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> with a 12:12-h light: dark cycle at 25 °C for 28 days. Growth yield was monitored by indicators such as Chl-*a*, DP, PP, POC and PON in each medium on days 0, 7, 14, 21, 28. All measurements were the average of three independent replicates. The pH in each medium was monitored every week and maintained at 8.5 to 9 by NaOH (1 M) and HCl (1 M). The cell count was observed under microscope to confirm the contamination of indigenous bacteria during incubation period.

# 4.3. Samples

The proposed extraction on two samples, including one soil and one suspended sediments: (a) Soil sample collected on 2011 January 26<sup>th</sup>; (b) Suspended sediment sample collected on 2014 September 5<sup>th</sup>. Extractions were conducted triplicates. Algal growth potential tests were also examined on triplicate for each sample.

### 4.4. Results and discussion

Due to the differences among the P contents of the samples, the amounts of soil and sediment required to produce an equivalent concentration of 0.2 mg-P  $L^{-1}$  differed between the media. The amounts of soil added to the media were 12.0 (I), 19.6 (II), and 20.9 (III) mg, whereas the amounts of sediments were 3.5 (I), 8.8 (II), and 8.7 (III) mg.

*Fig.4-1* illustrated the concentration of Chl-*a* over incubation time. In all media containing samples, the Chl-*a* increased (*Fig. 4-1 I, II, III*) but lower than the values in media containing  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate (*Fig. 4-1 V*). This result implied that *M. aeruginosa* could grow when samples (soil or sediment) presented as a sole P-source in each medium. It suggested *M.aeruginosa* could uptake some of P in particulate forms



Figure 4-1. Chl-a concentrations in cultures of *M. aeruginosa*. (I) Control samples, (II) sample extracted with ultrasonic treatment, (III) sample extracted with the conventional method, (IV) no source of P (negative control), (V)  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate (positive control). Each value is the mean of triplicates. Bars represent positive and negative errors.

which were remained after the extraction and considered to contain insignificant BAP. The dramatic growth of Chl-*a* concentrations in positive control media confirmed that *M.aeruginos*a grew healthily in well P supply (*Fig. 4-1 V*). The weaker rise of Chl-*a* in the media containing samples after extraction (*Fig.4-1 II, III*) than in those containing control samples (*Fig.4-1 I*) proved that the extraction had successfully obtained partial BAP fraction from samples. Additionally, Chl-*a* concentrations increased insignificantly in negative control media (*Fig.4-1 IV*) reinforced that *M. aeruginosa* did not grow significantly in the P-free environment.



*Figure 4-2.* Concentrations of  $(\blacksquare)$  PP and  $(\blacksquare)$  DP (left) in cultures of *M. aeruginosa.* (I).Control sample, (II) samples extracted with ultrasonic treatment, (III) samples extracted with the conventional method. Each value is the mean of triplicates. Bars represent positive and negative errors.

*Fig.4-2* compared the concentrations of PP and DP in each medium over the incubation. The increase of Chl-*a* in media containing samples as P-source resulted in the rise of Chl-*a* to PP ratio (*Fig. 4-3*). It was quite different as we expected that PP would be remain stable in all media containing samples whereas Chl-*a* would not go up in the media containing samples after extraction. Although there has been no clear pattern for the relationship between the cell growth (Chl-*a*) and the increase of PP in each medium, the ratio values of Chl-*a* to PP ranged 0.3 to 20.5 in cultures incubated with all three sample types (*Fig. 4-3*) is consistent with study of Spears et al. (2013). It reported if the ratio of Chl-*a* to PP more than 0.2, P could be an important factor limiting algal growth. The fluctuation of P concentration during incubation (*Fig. 4-2*) would be able to be controlled if we could separate the algal cells from the particulate matters (soil or sediment).



*Figure 4-3.* Ratios of Chl-*a* to PP in cultures of *M. aeruginosa*. (I).Control sample, (II) samples extracted with ultrasonic treatment, (III) samples extracted with the conventional method. Each value is the mean of triplicates. Bars represent positive and negative errors.

The percentages of POC and PON to SS in all media were relatively stable despite of the rise of Chl-a (*Fig.4-4 I, II, III*). The presence of POC and PON in *Fig. 4-4 IV* was assigned to the intracellular P in *M.aeruginosa*'s cells. The difference between the upper and lower *Fig. 4-4.IV* was allergered by the difference of the initial population of the cultured algae. The dramatic increase of POC concentrations in the media of positive controls (*Fig. 4-4 V*) illustrated the healthy growth of *M.aeruginosa* due to the presence of  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate. The C/N ratios increased over incubation time and varied from 4.29 to 8.72 in the media containing samples as the sole-P source. The rise of C/N ratios indicated carbohydrates were higher in P limited cells than in control cells of *M.aeruginosa*.



*Figure 4-4.* Concentrations of POC and ratios of POC to PON in cultures of *M. aeruginosa.* (I) Control sample, (II) sample extracted with ultrasonic treatment, (III) sample extracted with the conventional method, (IV) no source of P (negative control), (V)  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate (positive control). Each value is the mean of triplicates. Bars represent positive and negative errors.

In the other words, the algae grew under P-limited conditions (Okubo et al., 2014). It reinforced the aforementioned argument that P could be the limiting factor of algal growth. The observation under microscope detected no indigenous bacteria during the incubation period.

*Fig.4-5* showed the comparison of growing indicators in cultures incubated with the ultrasonically extracted samples and in those incubated with the conventionally extracted samples. The slopes were 1.03 to 1.75 illustrated that the growth of *M. aeruginosa* was similar in media containing extracts of soil or sediment obtained with ultrasonic treatment and with mechanical shaking.



*Figure 4-5.* Similarity of indicators in cultures incubated with conventionally extracted samples and with ultrasonically extracted samples. Comparison with control samples.

# 4.5. Summary

*M. aeruginosa* failed to grow in the negative control medium that contained no soil, sediment,  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate, or any other source of P. The fact that *M. aeruginosa* grew in a medium containing extracted soil or sediment implies that this alga can use intracellular forms of P for their growth or some forms of P that remain after extraction. The latter have been considered to be non-bioavailable. Further study should clarify the P species that remain after extraction. A technique to separate the intracellular forms of P in *M. aeruginosa* from the particles in soil is also necessary. However, *M. aeruginosa* grew much better in a medium containing  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate than in media containing soil or sediment particles. The growth of *M. aeruginosa* was similar in media containing extracts of soil or sediment obtained with ultrasonic treatment and with mechanical shaking. Furthermore, the ratios of BAP to TP in samples extracted using the conventional method. These results suggested that the extraction time can be shortened from 17 hours with the conventional method to 1 min.

#### References

- French, T.D., Petticrew, E.L., 2007. Chlorophyll *a* seasonality in four shallow eutrophic lakes (northern British Columbia, Canada) and the critical roles of internal phosphorus loading and temperature. Hydrobiologia 575, 285 299.
- Kasprzak, P., Padisak, J., Koschel, R., Krienitz, L., Gervais, F., 2008. Chlorophyll *a* concentration across a trophic gradient of lakes: An estimator of phytoplankton biomass. Limnologica 38, 327 338.

- Okubo, Y., Inoue, T., Yokota, K. and Ngoc, N.M., 2014. Availability of different phosphorus forms in agricultural soil to *Microcystis aeruginosa*, Water Science and Technology, 69 (6), 1205 1211.
- Spears, B. M., Meis, S., Anderson, A. and Kellou, M., 2013. Comparison of phosphorus
  (P) removal properties of materials proposed for the control of sediment p release in UK lakes, Science of the Total Environment, 442, 103 110.

# Chapter 5 Bioavailability of P Extracted from Soils and Suspended Sediments

# 5.1. Outlines

In previous chapters, we successfully figured out the optimal working conditions of ultrasonic extraction and the suitable environment for algal growth potential test subjected to soil and one sediment sample. Therefore, the main purpose of this chapter was to verify the bioavailability of P in a variety of soil and sediment samples, and the relationship between the P obtained from extractions and the algal growth.

## 5.2. Investigation procedure

BAP concentration in each sample (soil and suspended sediment) was estimated by means of a single-step extraction (conventional mechanical shaking or proposed ultrasonic method) as described in Chapter 2 and 3. To evaluate extraction efficiency, we calculated recovery rate by dividing the sum of the P in the supernatants and the P in the solid residues by the total amount of P in the original samples of soil and sediment before extraction. In order to prepare for the bioassays, the residues remaining after either mechanical shaking or ultrasonic extraction and subsequent centrifugation were washed twice with distilled water to remove any remaining NaOH, and the washed residues were air-dried at 40 °C.

Three types of samples were subjected to AGP bioassays: unextracted soil and sediment samples (control samples, designated as "I") and solid residues obtained either by NaOH extraction of soil and sediment samples with mechanical shaking for 17 h (designated as "II" or "mechanically extracted samples") or by NaOH extraction of soil and sediment samples with ultrasonication (designated as "III" or "ultrasonically extracted samples").

P-starved *M. aeruginosa*  $(1.3 \times 10^5 \text{ cells mL}^{-1})$  was incubated in 200 mL of P-free CB medium containing each of the samples described in the preceding paragraph as the sole P source, in an amount equivalent to 0.1 mg-P L<sup>-1</sup> (van Puijenbroek et al., 2014). The optimal pH for growth of *M. aeruginosa* is approximately 9, so the pH was monitored and maintained at that value during the incubation (Kasai et al., 2004). Note that these AGP bioassays were conducted indirectly—that is, with the residues left after extraction and centrifugation of soil and sediment samples as the P source, rather than direct way with the extracts themselves—because the extracts contained too much NaOH (pH > 12) and the salinity of neutralized aliquots was too high (>5%) for *M. aeruginosa* growth.

As a negative control, algae were incubated in P-free CB medium containing no external P source; and as a positive control, algae were incubated in CB-medium containing  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate. In all cases, incubation was carried out at 25 °C for 42 days in a growth chamber under cool white fluorescent light with a 12:12-h light: dark cycle at 20 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Microscopic cell counts were determined with a hemocytometer to monitor for contamination by indigenous bacteria during the incubation period.

The concentrations of chlorophyll-*a* (Chl-*a*), particulate organic carbon (POC), particulate organic nitrogen (PON), DP, and PP were used as indicators of algal growth. Concentrations were measured for samples collected on incubation days 0, 7, 25, and 42 and are reported as averages of three independent replicates per sample. The concentrations of the indicators in the cultures incubated with investigating particulate

samples (soil and sediment) are obtained by subtracting the blank values for the negative controls from the means of triplicate values of each sample. The cell count was observed under microscope to confirm the contamination of indigenous bacteria during incubation period.

# 5.3. Samples

The proposed extraction was tested on all of four samples, including soil (a), sediment (b), sediment (c), sediment (d) (described in Chapter 2). AGP bioassays subjected to three types of samples, including control samples (I), conventional mechanically extracted samples (II), proposed ultrasonic extracted samples (III). Therefore, we got the below summary list of samples which was applied to AGP bioassays (*Table 5-1*). Extractions were conducted triplicates. Algal growth potential tests were also examined on triplicate for each sample. P concentrations were the average of duplicate analyses.

# 5.4. Results and discussion

#### 5.4.1 Quantification of extractable BAP

The amounts of BAP extracted by the ultrasonic extraction method were similar to the amounts extracted by the conventional mechanical extraction method (*Fig. 5-1, 5-2*). The proportions of extractable BAP in the soil a, sediment b, sediment c, and sediment d samples were 34.2%, 35.5%, 55.2%, 45.8%, respectively, when we used the ultrasonic extraction method; and the corresponding values for the conventional method were 38.9%, 39.1%, 48.9%, 40.6% (*Fig. 5-1*). All these percentages are consistent with values determined in a previous study indicating that the proportion of BAP in PP in agricultural streams ranges from <5% to 69%, depending on the type of agriculture in

the watershed of the stream (Ellison and Brett, 2006).

ID	Sample name	Definition
aI	Control soil	Original soil before extraction
bI	Control sediment (b)	Original sediment (2014 Sep. 5) before extraction
cI	Control sediment (c)	Original sediment (2014 Sep. 11) before extraction
dI	Control sediment (d)	Original sediment (2014 Oct. 6) before extraction
aII	Conventional mechanically	Solid residue obtained by NaOH extraction of soil with
	extracted soil	mechanically shaking for 17h
bII	Conventional mechanically	Solid residue obtained by NaOH extraction of sediment
	extracted sediment (b)	(2014 Sep.5) with mechanically shaking for 17h
cII	Conventional mechanically	Solid residue obtained by NaOH extraction of sediment
	extracted sediment (c)	(2014 Sep.11) with mechanically shaking for 17h
dII	Conventional mechanically	Solid residue obtained by NaOH extraction of sediment
	extracted sediment (d)	(2014 Oct. 6) with mechanically shaking for 17h
aIII	Proposed ultrasonically	Solid residue obtained by NaOH extraction of soil with
	extracted soil (a)	ultrasonication
bIII	Proposed ultrasonically	Solid residue obtained by NaOH extraction of sediment
	extracted sediment (b)	(2014 Sep.5) with ultrasonication
cIII	Proposed ultrasonically	Solid residue obtained by NaOH extraction of sediment
	extracted sediment (c)	(2014 Sep.11) with ultrasonication
dIII	Proposed ultrasonically	Solid residue obtained by NaOH extraction of sediment
	extracted sediment (d)	(2014 Oct. 6) with ultrasonication

Table 5-1. The samples subjected to AGP bioassays



*Figure 5-1.* Concentrations of extractable phosphorus obtained by ultrasonic extraction and conventional mechanical extraction, along with total P concentrations. The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively. Concentrations are means of triplicate values; bars represent positive and negative errors.



*Figure 5-2.* Correlation between concentrations of extractable phosphorus obtained by ultrasonic extraction and by conventional mechanical extraction.

Our results also confirm that 0.1 M NaOH is an appropriate solvent for BAP extraction (Sharpley et al., 1991, Dorich et al., 1985): the average P recovery rates for the mechanical and ultrasonic extraction methods were high: 96.1% for soil I, 80.0% for sediment II, 80.5% for sediment III, and 78.4% for sediment IV for conventional mechanical extraction and 99.9% for soil I, 88.6% for sediment II, 89.5% for sediment III, and 87.1% for sediment IV for ultrasonic extraction. In addition, the similarities between the two sets of recoveries suggest that ultrasonic extraction with 0.1 M NaOH is an appropriate method for estimating BAP.

## 5.4.2 Algal available P

We cultured P-starved *M. aeruginosa*  $(1.3 \times 10^5 \text{ cells mL}^{-1})$  in P-free CB medium containing soil samples aI–III and sediment samples bI–III, cI–III, and dI–III as the sole P source in an amount equivalent to 0.1 mg-P L<sup>-1</sup>, which is the approximate TP concentration that limits algal growth as stipulated in environmental quality standards (van Puijenbroek et al., 2014). Because the TP concentrations in the samples differed (*Fig. 5-1*), the average amounts of the samples included in 200 mL of P-free CB medium were as follows: 18.3 mg of Soil aI, 27.3 mg of Soil aII, 31.9 mg of Soil aIII, 5.1 mg of Sediment bI, 9.7 mg of Sediment bII, 12.5 mg of Sediment bIII, 4.2 mg of Sediment cI, 12.3 mg of Sediment cII, 13.4 mg of Sediment cIII, 5.3 mg of Sediment dI, 12.8 mg of Sediment dII, and 13.9 mg of Sediment dIII.

Observation under a microscope revealed that there were no indigenous bacteria in any of the culture media during the incubation period. It implies there was no interference of indigenous bacteria on *M.aeruginosa*'s growth during AGP bioassays.

The results obtained for the negative control cultures show that even when there was no

external source of P, Chl-*a* concentration increased slightly until day 25 of the incubation period (*Fig. 5-3*). This result suggests that *M. aeruginosa* could grow in a P-depleted environment by using the limited amount of P present in the algal cells. It might be possible to confirm this possibility if the P forms that remaining in samples and extraction residues at the end of the AGP bioassays could be identified. However, currently available techniques (Xu et al., 2010, Dunkley et al., 2008) do not allow for good separation of *M. aeruginosa* cells from soil and sediment particles. For this purpose, a technique for separating algal cells from particulate matter derived from soil or suspended sediment at the end of the bioassays is required.

The temporal dependences of Chl-*a*, POC, and PON concentrations over the entire incubation period for all the samples are shown in (*Figs. 5-4, 5-6, 5-8*), respectively. The concentrations were subtraction of the blank values in the negative controls (*Fig. 5-2*) from the means of triplicate values in samples. The Chl-*a*, POC, and PON curves indicate that the algae grew slowly during the first week and then increased dramatically, peaking on day 25 and then declining to the death phase at around 40 days. These results confirm previous results indicating that *M. aeruginosa* reaches the stationary phase 2–3 weeks after the start of incubation (Okubo et al., 2012). The increases in the algal growth indicators (Chl-*a*, POC, and PON concentrations) for samples obtained by mechanical and ultrasonic extraction suggest that *M. aeruginosa* could take up some of the PP that remained after extraction and that was considered to contain insignificant amounts of BAP. These results appear to contradict our hypothesis that the entire BAP fraction could be obtained by means of a single extraction, that is, that no BAP would remain in the residues after mechanical or ultrasonic extraction with NaOH and that the algae would thus not grow when incubated with the extraction residues as the sole P

source.

However, the fact that the increases in the Chl-*a*, POC, and PON concentrations in culture media containing extraction residues (*Figs. 5-4, 5-6, 5-8 II* and *III*) were smaller than the increases for cultures containing control samples (that is, unextracted samples; *Figs. 5-4, 5-6, 5-8 I*) proved that extraction did remove a substantial proportion of the BAP from the soils and sediments. Furthermore, the increases in the Chl-*a*, POC, and PON concentrations in culture media containing solid residues of ultrasonic extraction (*Figs. 5-4, 5-6, 5-8 II*) were similar (*Figs. 5-5, 5-7, 5-9*) to those in culture media containing solid residues of ultrasonic extraction (*Figs. 5-4, 5-6, 5-8 II*) were similar (*Figs. 5-5, 5-7, 5-9*) to those in culture media containing solid residues of mechanical extraction (*Figs. 5-4, 5-6, 5-8 III*). These results are compatible with the aforementioned BAP quantification results and imply that ultrasonic extraction is a valid alternative method for estimating BAP in particulate samples. However, it was necessary for us to determine whether the P remaining in the solid residues contained BAP that caused algal growth in the AGP bioassays.

We found that the DP and PP concentrations fluctuated over the incubation period, but in most cases the sum of the two concentrations in each medium remained at approximately 0.1 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (*Fig. 5-10*). Because soil or suspended sediment or solid residue was the sole source of P in each medium, *M. aeruginosa* must have taken up P from the soil or sediment into their cells, which is why PP was the predominant form of P in the bioassay culture medium. Algae grew better in positive control cultures containing dissolved  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate as the sole P source at a concentration of 0.1 mg-P L<sup>-1</sup> (*Fig. 5-2*) than in media containing samples (*Figs. 5-4, 5-6, 5-8*), even though the sum of the DP and PP concentrations was roughly 0.1 mg L<sup>-1</sup> in the latter case. This result indicates the amount of the BAP fraction of the PP in the soil and suspended sediment was smaller than the amount of DP in the positive control cultures.



*Figure 5-3.* Chl-*a*, POC, PON, and DP+PP concentrations in cultures of *M. aeruginosa* incubated with no external P source (negative control), 0.1 mg L<sup>-1</sup>  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate as the sole P source (positive control), and 0.2 mg L<sup>-1</sup>  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate as the sole P source (positive control). Concentrations are means of triplicate values; bars indicate possitive and negative errors.


*Figure 5-4.* Chl-*a* concentrations in *M. aeruginosa* cultures incubated with control samples (I), ultrasonically extracted samples (II), and mechanically extracted samples (III). The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively. Concentrations are means of triplicate values obtained by subtracting the blank values in the negative controls; bars indicate possitive and negative errors.







*Figure 5-5.* Similarity of Chl-*a* concentrations in cultures incubated with conventionally extracted samples and with ultrasonically extracted samples. Comparison with the Chl-*a* concentrations in cultures incubated with control samples. The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively.



*Figure 5-6.* POC concentrations in cultures of *M. aeruginosa* incubated with control samples (I), ultrasonically extracted samples (II), and mechanically extracted samples (III). The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively. Concentrations are means of triplicate values obtained by subtracting the blank values in the negative controls; bars indicate possitive and negative errors.



*Figure 5-7.* Similarity of POC concentrations in cultures incubated with conventionally extracted samples and with ultrasonically extracted samples. Comparison with the POC concentrations in cultures incubated with control samples. The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively.



*Figure 5-8.* PON concentrations in cultures of *M. aeruginosa* incubated with control samples (I), ultrasonically extracted samples (II), and mechanically extracted samples (III). The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively. Concentrations are means of triplicate values obtained by subtracting the blank values in the negative controls; bars indicate possitive and negative errors.



*Figure 5-9.* Similarity of PON concentrations in cultures incubated with conventionally extracted samples and with ultrasonically extracted samples. Comparison with the PON concentrations in cultures incubated with control samples. The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively.



*Figure 5-10.* Concentrations of DP ( $\blacksquare$ ) and PP ( $\blacksquare$ ) in cultures of *M. aeruginosa* incubated with control samples (I), ultrasonically extracted samples (II), and mechanically extracted samples (III). The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively. Concentrations are means of triplicate values; bars indicate positive and negative errors.



*Figure 5-11.* Relationship between Chl-*a* concentration at day 25 of incubation and BAP concentration obtained from extractions: ( $\bullet$ ) ultrasonic extraction and ( $\blacktriangle$ ) mechanical extraction. The designations a–d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively. Concentrations are means of triplicate values; bars indicate positive and negative errors.

### 5.4.3 Bioavailability confirmation of extractable P

The potential bioavailability of extractable P was interpreted to be the growth of tested algae during incubation with the control sample (I) as the sole P source, that is, samples of dried soil or sediment prior to extraction. We assumed that the entire BAP fraction could be obtained by means of a single extraction, as has been reported previously  $Page \mid 71$ 



**Figure 5-12.** Relationship between Chl-*a* concentration at day 25 of incubation and P concentration extracted from the residues: ( $\bullet$ ) ultrasonic extraction and ( $\blacktriangle$ ) mechanical extraction. The designations a-d correspond to soil samples collected on 2011 January 26 and suspended sediment samples collected on 2014 September 5, September 11, and October 6, respectively. (—) Linear regression including data for sample b; (---) linear regression excluding data for sample b.

(Sharpley et al., 1991), that is, that the amount of extractable BAP was related to algal growth in the bioassays. We found that algal growth at day 25 of incubation, as indicated by Chl-*a* concentration, was strongly correlated (r = 0.99,  $\alpha < 0.001$ ) with BAP mass fraction as quantified by ultrasonic extraction with 0.1 M NaOH (*Fig. 5-11*). This correlation was comparable (t = 0.08, p = 0.94 > 0.05) to that between *M. aeruginosa* production and BAP mass fraction as quantified by mechanical extraction (r = 0.98,  $\alpha < 0.001$ ). Additionally, the correlation was similar to that previously reported (Sharpley et al., 1991) for the relationship between *Selenastrum capricornutum* growth and sediment BAP content determined by mechanical extraction in 0.1 M NaOH (r = 0.96,  $\alpha < 0.001$ , 29-day incubation). The strong correlation confirms the feasibility of using ultrasonic extraction for estimating particulate BAP and indicates that the amounts of P in each sample available for algal uptake were compatible with the amounts of extracted P. In other words, the correlation supports our initial hypotheses that a single ultrasonic extraction efficiently released all of the BAP from the soil and sediment samples.

### 5.4.4 Effects of nutrient deficiency on algal growth

The limiting nutrient in each medium was determined (Table 5-1), and the nutrient weight ratios were compared with the Redfield ratio (Dupas et al., 2015, Neill, 2005, Fagerbakke et al., 1996, Redfield et al., 1963) and the Healey and Hendzel ratios (Tsukada, 2006, Healey and Hendzel, 1979). Redfield (1963) reported that significant deviation of the C:N:P molar ratio from 106:16:1 indicates the supply of at least one nutrient is limited, whereas Healey and Hendzel (1979) suggested that a N:C molar ratio of < 0.12 and a P:C molar ratio of < 0.0077 (i.e., a mass ratio of 0.0029) indicate N and P deficiency (in all cases, C, N, and P refer to particulate forms). In our study, starting from the first day of incubation, the C:N:P molar ratios in all the media greatly exceeded the Redfield ratio, which reinforces the aforementioned argument that P deficiency is more detrimental than the deficiency of other nutrients. It suggests that P was the algal-growth-limiting nutrient in all of the tested cultures. Additionally, the average N:C, N:P, and P:C mass ratios (Table 5-1) were clearly consistent with previously reported ratios (Fagerbakke et al., 1996, Tsukada, 2006) determined in studies of the relative amounts of C, N, and P in cultures of various bacteria collected from a variety of environments. In addition, the C:Chl-a and N:Chl-a ratios (Table 5-3)

were comparable to previously reported values (Rasul et al., 2014, Yacobi and Zohary, 2010), which proves that *M. aeruginosa* grew as well in our cultures with soil and suspended sediment samples as it did in the positive control cultures (Fig. 5-3). However, when we considered the bioavailable fractions in the total PP, we found that it was only in the cultures with the control samples (I) the P:C ratios were higher than Healey and Hendzel (1979) suggested as being indicative of P deficiency. It implies in the cultures with solid residues after mechanical and ultrasonic extractions, the algae grew well even though the supply of P was insufficient. This result suggests that in the absence of an external P source, M. aeruginosa could use cellular nutrients for their growth. This suggestion is consistent with our finding that Chl-a concentration increased slowly in the P-free negative control cultures, whereas the POC and PON concentrations were nearly constant or decreased slightly (Fig. 5-3). Moreover, the low P:Chl-a ratios (Table 5-2) also illustrate the substantial increase in Chl-a concentration, indicating algal growth, relative to the P concentration. The BAP fractions that probably remained in extraction residues II and III were measured by NaOH extraction of II with mechanical shaking (designated as "two-step mechanical extraction") or by NaOH extraction of III with ultrasonication (designated as "two-step ultrasonic extraction"). The weak correlation between BAP concentration determined by means of the two-step extraction and Chl-a concentration (Fig. 5-12) (r = 0.41,  $\alpha < 0.5$ ) supports the notion that the extracted P was not truly bioavailable. The slopes for the single-step extractions (Fig. 5-11) were lower than the slopes for the two-step extractions (Fig. 5-12). This result demonstrates that the algae had more effort to grow in less extractable BAP in Fig. 5-12 than in Fig. 5-11. The difference between the slopes in Figs. 5-11 and 5-12 was not statistically significant (ultrasonic extraction: t = 1.93, p = 0.10 > 0.05; mechanical

extraction: t = 1.26, p = 0.11 > 0.05). We considered that in the extraction of solid residues, the use of NaOH in combination with ultrasonication might have suppressed the transformation of partially refractory P into SRP, which could be detected by our analyzer and which we assume to be BAP. However, in cultures with solid residues after mechanical and ultrasonic extractions, algal growth could be triggered not only by extractable P but also by cellular P. Therefore, we recommend a procedure involving a single-step extraction to determine BAP in the particulate phase.

Interestingly, when we omitted the data for the suspended sediment sample collected on 2014 September 5 (b), the correlation between extractable BAP and algal growth markedly improved (Fig. 5-12) but the slopes increased substantially and differed significantly from the data for the single-step extraction (Fig. 5-11) (ultrasonic extraction: t = 8.86, p = 0.0003 < 0.05; mechanical extraction: t = 9.49, p = 0.0002 < 0.002(0.05). This result implies that the relationship between algal growth and extractable BAP differed depending on whether we used a single-step extraction or a two-step extraction. The reason for the low P concentration in the suspended sediment sample (b) was unclear, but it might have been due to differences in the composition and characteristics of this sample, such as metal ions or re-adsorption of extracted P to solid residue surface, that led to a remarkable decline in the P concentration from the single-step extraction to the two-step extraction. The higher slopes in Fig. 5-12 relative to Fig. 5-11 emphasize that the algae we used for the bioassay adapted and grew well even though P was lacking in the culture environment. Further studies of the cellular mechanism of P uptake by algae, particularly M. aeruginosa are necessary to determine the factors that support algal growth in nutrient-deficient environments. Moreover, the growth of algae in P-free CB medium with no external P source (negative control), with ultrasonically extracted samples (II), and with mechanically extracted samples (III) indicate that *M. aeruginosa* was inappropriate for AGP bioassays to evaluate the bioavailability in P-depleted media of extraction residues.

## 5.5. Summary

Algal growth in media containing ultrasonic extraction solid residues was similar level to that in media containing mechanical extraction solid residues (Figs. 5-5, 5-7, 5-9). This result confirms that ultrasonic extraction could provide similar results for quantification for BAP in soil and suspended sediment samples compared with the results for mechanical extraction. The high correlation between the amount of extracted BAP and algal growth at day 25 of incubation suggests that the BAP fraction could be obtained by means of a single-step ultrasonic extraction. Additionally, P was shown to be more important than C and N in limiting algal growth. However, the growth of M. aeruginosa in P-depleted media containing extraction solid residues and in media containing no external P source (negative control) implies that in the absence of an external source of P, the algae could utilize cellular nutrients for growth; that is, in addition to blooming as a result of the presence of excess nutrients in the environment, *M. aeruginosa* can grow even when the P concentration falls below a threshold level. Further consideration should be given to separation of P species in algal cells from particulate matter of soil or suspended sediment and to the cellular mechanisms of P uptake to clarify the growth-limiting factors under nutrient-depleted conditions. Finally, comparison of single-step extraction and two-step sequential extraction for BAP measurement suggests that the ultrasonic method involving a single-step extraction was effective for quantifying particulate BAP.

	N : C	N : P	P : C	C: N: P**	C: N: P***	BAP : C
Control soil (aI)	0.11 - 0.30	32.8 - 71.0	0.0020 - 0.0082	317:72:1	1284:157:1	0.0028
Soil after ultrasonic extraction (aII)	0.11 - 0.29	33.2 - 64.4	0.0027 - 0.0080	323:79:1	941:128:1	0.0005
Soil after conventional extraction (aIII)	0.12 - 0.31	27.7 - 57.8	0.0022 - 0.0082	314:73:1	1170:143:1	0.0006
Control sediment (bI)	0.11 - 0.29	31.9 - 75.6	0.0018 - 0.0080	324:81:1	1402:167:1	0.0031
Sediment after ultrasonic extraction (bII)	0.11 - 0.27	28.6 - 58.7	0.0022 - 0.0078	330:75:1	1197:147:1	0.0007
Sediment after conventional extraction (bIII)	0.11 - 0.28	34.1 - 66.2	0.0025 - 0.0082	316:73:1	1031:130:1	0.0006
Control sediment (cI)	0.14 - 0.29	35.5 - 128.6	0.0012 - 0.0080	321:78:1	2166:285:1	0.0044
Sediment after ultrasonic extraction (cIII)	0.11 - 0.28	37.1 - 96.4	0.0016 - 0.0073	355:83:1	1344:231:1	0.0003
Sediment after conventional extraction (cIII)	0.15 - 0.29	37.9 - 104.2	0.0015 - 0.0075	346:82:1	1604:189:1	0.0004
Control sediment (dI)	0.14 - 0.34	36.7 - 119.8	0.0013 - 0.0081	318:93:1	1952:265:1	0.0037
Sediment after ultrasonic extraction (dII)	0.10 - 0.34	36.9 - 84.9	0.0019 - 0.0075	343:93:1	1372:165:1	0.0004
Sediment after conventional extraction (dIII)	0.11 - 0.32	36.4 - 74.5	0.0015 - 0.0078	333:97:1	1698:188:1	0.0004
Negative control	0.22 - 0.28	104.6 - 163.5	0.0013 - 0.0022	500:92:1	1364:259:1	0.0013
Positive control 0.1 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.12 - 0.28	36.0 - 67.9	0.0018 - 0.0074	487:80:1	1421:150:1	0.0053
Positive control 0.2 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.19 - 0.30	17.3 - 47.1	0.0041 - 0.0176	269:49:1	633:104:1	0.0096
References	Fagerbakke et al.(1996):	Tsukada et al. (2006):	Tsukada et al. (2006):	• Redfield ratio (1963): 106C:16N:1P*		
	0.17 - 0.29*	15.0 - 98.0*	0.00098 - 0.017*	• Healey & Hendzel (1979):		
	i.e. 0.15 - 0.25	i.e. 33.2 – 217.0	i.e. 0.0003 - 0.0066	N deficiency in algae when N:C $< 0.12^*$		
				P deficiency in algae when $P:C < 0.0077*$		
				(i.e. mass P:C < 0.0029)		

Table 5-2. Mass ratios of phosphorus, nitrogen, and carbon in M. aeruginosa cultures.

\* the atomic ratio; \*\* the average atomic ratio at the initial day (0 day); \*\*\* the average atomic ratio at the 25<sup>th</sup> day.

Page | 77

	C: Chl-a	N: Chl-a	P: Chl-a
Control soil (al)	159.0	22.7	0.3
Soil after ultrasonic extraction (aII)	150.0	23.8	0.4
Soil after conventional extraction (aIII)	177.4	25.2	0.4
Control sediment (bI)	162.5	22.6	0.3
Sediment after ultrasonic extraction (bII)	213.2	30.5	0.5
Sediment after conventional extraction (bIII)	237.9	34.9	0.6
Control sediment (cI)	93.5	14.3	0.1
Sediment after ultrasonic extraction (cII)	71.3	14.3	0.1
Sediment after conventional extraction (cIII)	99.4	13.7	0.2
Control sediment (dI)	101.2	16.0	0.1
Sediment after ultrasonic extraction (dII)	121.3	17.0	0.2
Sediment after conventional extraction (dIII)	152.5	19.7	0.2
Negative control	147.5	32.7	0.3
Positive control 0.1 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	73.0	19.4	0.2
Positive control 0.2 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	49.4	11.9	0.3
References	Yacobi & Zohary (2010):	Rasul et al. (2014):	Rasul et al. (2014):
	39.0 - 182.0,	16.6,	2.3,
	Rasul et al. (2014):		Chen et al. (2011):
	94.2 <sup>[26]</sup> ,		0.2 - 1.2

Table 5-3. Mass ratios of phosphorus, nitrogen, and carbon relative to Chl-a in M. aeruginosa cultures at day 25 of incubation.

# References

- Chen, M., Li, J., Dai, X., Sun, Y., Chen, F., 2011. Effect of phosphorus and temperature on chlorophyll a contents and cell sizes of Scenedesmus obliquus and Microcystis *aeruginosa*. Limnol. 12, 187 – 192.
- Dorich, R.A., Nelson, D.W., Sommers, L.E., 1985. Estimating algal available phosphorus in suspended sediments by chemical extraction. J. Environ. Qual. 14, 400 -405.

- Dunkley, P. R., Jarvie, P. E., Robison, P. J., 2008. A rapid Percoll gradient procedure for preparation of synaptosomes, Nature Protocols 3 (11), 1718 1728.
- Dupas, R., Delmas, M., Dorioz, J-M., Garnier, J., Moatar, F., Gascuel-Odoux, C., 2015. Assessing the impact of agricultural pressures on N and P loads and eutrophication risk. Ecol. Indicators 48, 396 – 407.
- Ellison, M.E., Brett, M.T., 2006. Particulate phosphorus bioavailability as a function of stream flow and land cover. Water Research 40, 1258 1268.
- Fagerbakke, K.M., Heldal, M., Norland, S., 1996. Content of carbon, nitrogen, oxygen, sulfur and phosphorus in native aquatic and cultured bacteria, Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 10, 15 – 27.
- Healey, F.P, Hendzel, L.L., 1979. Indicators of phosphorus and nitrogen deficiency in five algae in culture, J. fFish Res. Board Can. 36, 1364 1369.
- Kasai, F., Kawachi, M., Erata, M., Watanabe, M. M., NIES-Collection List of Strains, seventh ed., 2004, Microalgae and Protozoa, Research Report from the National Institute for Environmental Studies, Japan N. 182.
- Neill, M., 2005. A method to determine which nutrient is limiting for plant growth in estuarine waters at any salinity, Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50, 945 955.
- Okubo, Y., Inoue, T., Yokota, K., Estimating bioavailability of soil particulate phosphorus to *Microcystis aeruginosa*, J. Appl. Phycol. 24 (2012), 1503 1507.
- Rasul, E., Inoue, T., Aoki, S., Yokota, K., Matsumoto, Y., Okubo, Y., 2014. Nutrient enrichment and physical environmental effects caused by typhoons in a semi-enclosed bay, J. Ecotechnology Res. 17 (3 4), 107 114.

- Redfield, A.C., Ketchum, B.H., Richards, F.A., 1963. The influence of organisms on the composition of seawater. In: Hill, M.N. (Ed.), The Sea, vol. II. John Wiley, New York, pp. 26 – 77.
- Sharpley, A.N., Troeger, W.W., Smith, S.J., 1991. The measurement of bioavailable phosphorus in agricultural runoff. J. Environ. Qual. 20, 235 238.
- Tsukada, H., Tsujimura, S., Nakahara, H., 2006. Effect of nutrient availability on the C, N, and P elemental ratios in the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa*. Limnol. 7, 185 192.
- van Puijenbroek, P.J.T.M., Cleij, P., Visser, H., 2014. Aggregated indices for trend in eutrophication of different types of fresh water in the Netherlands. Ecological Indicators 36, 456 462.
- Xu, K., Du, Y., Lei, Y., Renhai, D., 2010. A practical method of Ludox density gradient centrifugation combined with protargol staining for extracting and estimating ciliates in marine sediments, European Journal of Protistology 46, 263 270.
- Yacobi, Y.Z., Zohary, T., 2010. Carbon: chlorophyll a ratio, assimilation numbers and turnover times of Lake Kinneret phytoplankton, Phytoplankton 639, 185 196.

# **Chapter 6 Conclusion**

Bioavailable phosphorus (BAP) showed more closely related to the growth of algae in water environment, thereby it demonstrates to be a better indicator of eutrophication than total phosphorus (TP) which have been using in water quality standards. BAP in particulate forms has been more attracted because of P's strong affinity for particles of soil and sediment. Agricultural activity can be a harmful P pollution source due to its usage of intensive P-containing fertilizers. When a rainfall or flood occurs, drains or overland routes wash out these excessive P soils into aquatic environment, accumulating in suspended sediments. This dissertation investigated the particulate BAP fraction from one soil sample and three river suspended sediment samples from a representative agricultural source in the watershed of Umeda River, a river flow to Mikawa Bay which is one of the most eutrophic regions of Japan's main island. The proportion of BAP in total PP was consistent to previous studies. It reinforced the potential P pollution from paddy fields in Umeda River following to wide-spreading eutrophication in Mikawa Bay. Henceforth BAP in particulate forms should be considered for a better management of eutrophication in watersheds.

The conventional methods for quantifying particulate BAP are too time-consuming thus limit the amount of analyzed sample. A conventional single extraction using mechanical shaking requires 17 h only for extraction and up to several weeks for the whole procedure. In order to shorten the working process, an application of ultrasonic treatment on the extraction of BAP in particulate forms especially soil and suspended sediment samples from agricultural sources was assessed in this study. The most optimal conditions of ultrasonic extraction were identified. The proposed ultrasonic

method allowed an extraction time of only 1 min whereas the mechanically shaking method required 17 hours for BAP extraction. Based on this promising result, we will be able to develop a new standard method for quantifying particulate BAP that can be more suitable for routine analyses in eutrophication monitoring.

We also evaluated the bioavailability of the extractable BAP by AGP bioassays using P-starved *M.aeruginosa*. The growth of algae in the media containing samples after the ultrasonic extraction was illustrated at identically similar level with those in the media containing samples after the conventional extraction. It strengthened that ultrasonic treatment could provide a similar quantification BAP in soil and suspended sediment samples when using the conventional extraction. The high correlation between the amount of extracted BAP and the algal growth at 25-day incubation suggested that the BAP fraction could be entirely obtained in once extraction. Additionally, P was confirmed more important than other nutrients (C and N) in limiting algal growth. The concept underlying the bioassay is that P is a critical requirement for optimum growth of tested algae in a P-depleted culture medium, ie. *M.aeruginosa* would be difficult to grow in media containing solid residues after extraction. However, our result appeared to contradict this hypothesis. The growth of *M.aeruginosa* in the media containing samples after extraction and negative control implied the algae could utilize their cellular nutrients to develop without external P. In this case, M.aeruginosa might be unsuitable for evaluate P depletion in AGP bioassays. Therefore, various blue-green algae should be examined to get fate of bioavailable phosphorus in environment. Moreover, further consideration should be given to the intracellular mechanisms of cyanobacteria to clarify the growing possibly limiting factor under nutrient depletion. Finally, these findings suggested that the proposed method with single-step ultrasonic

extraction provided a promising alternative for quantifying BAP in particulate forms that can shorten the working process, thereby more samples can be analyzed.